= HAORZERARA A
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
(RASEEEMALZZERAR)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

f% 5 5% Stock Code : 1313

Annual Re%gilﬁ( 2 0 09



NRIER
Corporate Information
BE

Definitions

NRIESE
Corporate History

E Y

Business Overview

“ETAFEESH
Significant Events in 2009

MBHE

Financial Highlights

FE®mE

Chairman'’s Statement
TRBHERE

Report from Chief Executive Officer
EIRE T R

Management Discussion and Analysis
EENEREBABREE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
ExgWE

Report of the Directors
PEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

B AZ BRI
Independent Auditor’s Report

RAEZERER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

fRA BB R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SAERBBE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meaBReRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

fR A M ISR R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M HE

Financial Summary

=3

Page

20

30

37

58

73

75

76

78

80

82

164



ATER

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ETRERITES
5

BITESRITHAR

EREL

BTESERERMEE

22 m
kHTES
FiEE

HXE

i
BUKHNTES
e

L

wEE

NEWE

B
EERETHED
22 m
BEREES

W ()

9
BEH

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ZHOU Junging

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

ZHOU Longshan

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Fuzuo
DU Wenmin
WEI Bin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

IP Shu Kwan, Stephen
ZENG Xuemin
LAM Chi Yuen

COMPANY SECRETARY

LO Chi Lik, Peter

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT
LAU Chung Kwok Robert

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LAM Chi Yuen (Chairman)

IP Shu Kwan, Stephen
ZENG Xuemin
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ZENG Xuemin (Chairman)
IP Shu Kwan, Stephen
LAM Chi Yuen

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman)
ZENG Xuemin
LAM Chi Yuen
ZHOU Junging

LEGAL ADVISERS

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer

(as to laws of Hong Kong and laws of the United States of America)
Concord & Partners (as to laws of The People’s Republic of China)
Maples and Calder (as to laws of the Cayman Islands)

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank

DBS Bank Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Ltd.
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

Pingan Bank
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

"associated corporation”

"Board”

“China Resources Group”

"Chinese Mainland”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

"Director(s)”

NG

“Fujian”

“GDP"

"Group”

“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

"Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“IPO"

“Listing Date”

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macau
Special Administrative Regions

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability

director(s) of the Company

Fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

Gross domestic products

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

The initial public offering of the Shares
on 21 September 2009

6 October 2009, being the first day of
the listing of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange
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“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

"PRC" or “China”

"Southern China”

“Stock Exchange”

The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies set out in

Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

New Suspension Preheater technology
in the manufacture of cement

the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2009

The People’s Republic of China
a prospectus of the Company dated

21 September 2009

The share award scheme of the Company
adopted by the Company’s Directors on
2 September 2009

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan and
Hong Kong

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent

cubic meter



ERKRERBRARN -_ZEET=F=A+=H
REFSHSARAERSHEEMR LA R
EREeNBERAR] U REBREMBEIORME
R R R

ARRBNR-_ZZ=FEA -+ NABUANEERX
ERBMERIMABRAR R LT WEEE
EREE ERLTH—E7D) -

AREWEE (KE) BRARLEERIEENIRE
BERARNEEMBLAR YN —TTRFLHA
ZHRNBEREEER BB TR _ BT

AARRZEZNFTANAURHBEERRE
FRERBBRZMERLET  WARKRVITEE
$£511,638,000,0000%3% 17 © 1B [FIAR B RAR IHEFT
BTN TEA - LAB S S0 E _EPR3.908 L 81T
H511,737,468,0000% 8% 15 - SRS IR FELREE
#9.56,475,100,0007 7T °

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on
13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Cayman Companies Law and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of the China
Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way of introduction and no funds
were raised by the Company as part of the listing.

The Company was privatised as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth
Concept Investments Limited by China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited and the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange
was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
on 6 October 2009 by way of a Global Offering and a total of
1,638,000,000 shares were initially offered to public shareholders.
Including the shares issued under the over-allotment option, a total of
1,737,468,000 shares were issued at the top end of the price range of
HK$3.90 raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$6,475,100,000.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is one of the leading cement
and concrete producers in Southern China and is one of the large-scale
cement producers supported by Chinese government authorities. We
were the largest NSP clinker and cement producer by production capacity
and the largest concrete producer by sales volume in Southern China in
2009.

Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products
are primarily used in the construction of infrastructure projects such
as hydroelectric power stations, dams, ports, bridges, airports and
roads, suburban development and high-rise buildings. Our products are
mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan and Fujian through our
well-established waterway, railway and road logistics network. As at
31 December 2009, we had 36 cement grinding lines and 15 clinker
production lines in operation, with annual production capacity of 28.5
million tons of cement and 20.5 million tons of clinker respectively. We
also operate 25 concrete batching plants with annual production capacity
of 15.3 million m* of concrete.

We place strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility and are
one of the few cement producers in China to equip all of our clinker
production lines with advanced NSP technology and residual heat
recovery generators that recycle the heat generated during the clinker
production process, enabling us to reduce energy use, achieve high
production efficiency, minimise pollution and improve product quality.
Our clinker production facilities are strategically located near our
limestone quarries, which supply the limestone required for our clinker
production.



ES 2
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

RPN TEAREER KEDEGELERETE  Our principal clinker production lines, cement grinding facilities and
FRULAIPA LA T 3 B - concrete batching plants are situated at the following locations:

BR
Guangdong *

BEPRARREESIOKENEROEESN

The production plants with clinker production lines and cement grinding facilities in operation

% Nanning 9 &7 Guigang e 7 Fengkai
E[5 Binyang o F Pingnan e £)T Changjiang

ERPRAVREESIKENEROEELSN

The production plants with clinker production lines and cement grinding facilities under construction

M5 Tianyang 9 HE Wuxuan 0 &Il Fuchuan
/B Shangsi @ %& )1l Luchuan @ 5% Yangchun
BEPEICRNE]

The cement grinding plants in operation

7T Zhanjiang %5 Dongguan B JZE Shantou
P ERN E L

The cement grinding plants under construction

B354 Fangchenggang

» B B B B 6060 o 00 o

BEPHRA TR

The concrete batching plants in operation
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DATE

March 2009

March 2009

June 2009

30 June 2009

September 2009

6 October 2009

29 October 2009

6 December 2009

December 2009

EVENT

Commencement of operation of the
second 5000 tons per day clinker
production line in Nanning, Guangxi

Commencement of operation of
the fourth 5000 tons per day clinker
production line in Pingnan, Guangxi

Commencement of operation of the fifth
5000 tons per day clinker production line
in Pingnan, Guangxi

Signing of an agreement on the
acquisition of 34.14% equity interest in
SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd.

Commencement of operation of new
cement grinding lines in Shantou,
Guangdong

Re-listing of shares of the Company by IPO

Successful bid for a piece of land in
Xingang West Logistics Area, Dinghu
District, Zhaoging City, Guangdong

Successful bid for Chunwan cement
project in Yangchun City, Guangdong

Commencement of operation of the first
5000 tons per day clinker production line
in Fengkai, Guangdong
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Turnover (HK$'000)
EBITDA (HK$'000)

Profit for the year (HK$'000)

Profit attributable to owners of
the Company (HK$'000)

Earnings per share — basic (HK$)

Total assets (HK$'000)
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company (HK$'000)
Minority interests (HK$'000)
Net borrowings (HK$'000) (note 1)
Gearing ratio (note 2)
Net gearing ratio (note 3)
Net assets per share — book (HK$) (note 4)

it notes:
1. ERNFRESNABEERS MIFTEBRUAREER 1.

RITFR bank deposits.
2. BERTINABGERAEATES ARIEERT 2.

Ho owners of the Company.
3. TFEERTIAMETFRERARABEE AR 3.

He owners of the Company.
4, BREEFE-RATARRTES ABIGERBRIA 4

FAREZBBITROBEEE -

the Company by number of issued shares at end of the year.

—BThE
2009

6,906,925

1,640,054
1,027,325

1,010,176
0.400

—BThE
2009

24,233,892

12,257,625
373,029
3,225,186
76.5%
26.3%

1.88

—TENEF
2008

5,781,278

1,270,458
783,747

760,924
0.973

—TENEF
2008

10,693,460

4,366,597
34,647
4,124,814
103.0%
94.5%

5.59

Net borrowings equal total indebtedness less cash and bank balances and pledged

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total indebtedness by equity attributable to

Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to

Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of
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JA%E ZHOU Junging
E/E Chairman

FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover and the consolidated profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009
amounted to HK$6,906.9 million and HK$1,010.2 million, representing
respective increases of 19.5% and 32.8% when comparing to last
year. These increases were mainly attributable to (i) the increase in sales
volume of our products resulting from higher demand for our products
in Southern China, which was in line with the GDP and FAI growth in
this region, (i) the decrease in the coal and electricity consumption in the
clinker production process, and (iii) the improvement in economies of
scale achieved by operation expansions. Basic earnings per share for the
year ended 31 December 2009 was HK$0.40.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In view of the global financial crisis and economic slowdown in 2009,
the Chinese Central Government announced a number of economic
stimulus policies to boost domestic economy and maintain the economic
growth of the country at a healthy and sustainable rate. The provincial
governments also announced major construction plans to promote
private investment and domestic consumption. The GDP of China
reached RMB33.5 trillion for year 2009, representing an increase of
8.7% over year 2008. The FAI of China which comprised infrastructural
projects, rural development and property development, contributed a
significant portion of the GDP and reached RMB22.5 trillion for year
2009, representing an increase of 30.1% over year 2008.

12 EBHAKRERBR2AT  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In Southern China, the GDP for year 2009 in Guangdong, Guangxi,
Fujian and Hainan were approximately RMB3,908 billion, RMB770 billion,
RMB1,195 billion and RMB165 billion, representing increases of 9.5%,
13.9%, 12.0% and 11.7% respectively over the same period in 2008
and the respective FAI in these provinces were approximately RMB1,335
billion, RMB571 billion, RMB636 billion and RMB100 billion, representing
increases of 19.5%, 50.8%, 20.3% and 41.4% respectively over the
same period in 2008.

As driven by the strong growth in GDP and FAI in 2009, the demand
for cement products was strong and the total cement production in
the Chinese Mainland in 2009 increased to approximately 1.63 billion
tons, representing an increase of 17.9% over that of 2008. The total
cement production in Southern China in 2009 reached approximately
228 million tons, representing an increase of approximately 15.1% over
that of 2008, of which 100 million tons, 64 million tons, 55 million tons
and 9 million tons were produced in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian and
Hainan, representing increases of approximately 5.7%, 23.5%, 21.0%
and 45.4% respectively. According to the China Cement Association,
vertical kilns with total annual production capacity of approximately 74
million tons in the Chinese Mainland were eliminated in 2009 and there
were, in operation, 1,113 NSP clinker production lines with total annual
production capacity of approximately 958.6 million tons in the Chinese
Mainland as at 31 December 2009.

In a statement issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission and approved by the State Council of China in September
2009, the Chinese Central Government indicated that it will deal with the
over-supply and duplicate construction of production capacity of certain
industries (including the cement industry) and move towards the healthy
development of these industries. In line with the advanced international
industry practice, the Chinese Central Government plans to adopt
more environmental friendly policies and for the purpose of the healthy
development of the cement industry, the Chinese Central Government
will also enforce its policy to restrain the excessive construction of cement
production lines and will implement further measures to accelerate
the elimination of the inefficient vertical kilns. These measures will be
beneficial to the long term development of the cement industry and will
create more opportunities for the future expansion of the Company.
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In early 2010, the Chinese Central Government expressed its intention to
encourage and support plans for the construction of self-use residential
homes by people living in the rural areas with a view to promoting
domestic consumption through capital investment and to improve the
quality of living. The implementation of the policy is expected to increase
the demand for good quality cement products substantially which will
have a positive impact on the profitability of NSP cement producers.

We placed strong emphasis in corporate social responsibility. As an
example of our commitment to the environmental protection, we have
a strong desire to minimise the environmental impact of our operation
on the communities where they are located. We have installed dust
absorption facilities at all our production plants so that our dust emissions
are materially lower than the standard rates specified by the government
authority and the international standards. We have also installed residual
heat recovery generators that recycle the heat generated during the
clinker production process which is re-used in the production process. Our
production lines are also installed with equipment that will use industrial
wastes such as coal ash, slag and de-sulphur gypsum generated by the
coal-fired electric power plants and iron and steel manufacturers during
their production process as part of the raw materials for our cement
production. We are committed to the sustainable development of the
cement industry and have joined the Cement Sustainability Initiative.
We are prepared to integrate our strong financial performance with an
equally strong commitment to social and environmental responsibilities,
and we are also ready to engage in an honest and open dialogue with
our stakeholders.

In addition, we have participated in certain activities that allow us to fulfill
our role as a social corporate citizen. During the year ended 31 December
2009, we donated 34,000 tons of cement worth of HK$7.0 million for
charity purpose in Southern China including the construction of schools,
paths, and the “China Resources Town of Hope” in Baise, Guangxi,
with a view to assisting the establishment of a comfortable town for
poor people in that area. Other cash donations to charities amounted to
HK$4.6 million for the year.
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We will continue with our “Lowest Total Cost” expansion strategy along
the Xijiang River and have plans to extend our business territories to
cover the coastal areas in Southern China using structured river and sea
logistic network. The successful listing of our Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange has provided us with the requisite funding to carry out
our expansion plan. As at 31 December 2009, our annual production
capacities for clinker, cement and concrete amounted to 20.5 million
tons, 28.5 million tons and 15.3 million cubic meters respectively.
According to our current construction plan, our annual production
capacities for clinker, cement and concrete will be increased to 33.7
million tons, 45.1 million tons and 23.1 million cubic meters respectively
at the end of 2010.

We target to expand our annual production capacity to over 50 million
tons of clinker, 65 million tons of cement and 40 million cubic meters
of concrete over the next three years. These expansion targets will be
principally achieved by organic growth through both the expansion of our
existing production plants and the construction of new production lines
on approved projects. These expansion targets will enable our Company
to maintain our leading position as the most influential cement and
concrete producer in Southern China as we will possess a market share
of approximately 25% in Southern China. While we are focusing on our
capacity expansion in Southern China, we are also looking for expansion
opportunities in other parts of China, which may be achieved through
mergers and acquisitions.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank
those who participated in obtaining listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange. | would also like to thank our shareholders for their
continuing support and finally, | wish to pay tribute to the management
and all the employees for their contribution and dedication to their work.

ZHOU Junqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2010
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NEW PRODUCTION PLANTS

During the year 2009, there were four clinker production lines completed
and put into operation. They were Nanning 2nd line and Pingnan 4th line
in March, Pingnan 5th line in June and Fengkai 1st line in December and
have increased our total annual clinker production capacity by 6.2 million
tons. There were also six cement grinding lines and six concrete batching
plants completed and commenced operation during the year 2009,
increasing our total annual cement production capacity and annual concrete
production capacity by 8.1 million tons and 3.6 million m? respectively. In
2009, we acquired 63.45% equity interest in SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd.,
which has an annual clinker production capacity of 3.3 million tons and an
annual cement production capacity of 4.0 million tons. As at 31 December
2009, our annual production capacities for clinker, cement and concrete
amounted to 20.5 million tons, 28.5 million tons and 15.3 million cubic
meters respectively. Notwithstanding the rapid expansion of our production
capacity during the year 2009, we managed to maintain production activities
at high level and the utilisation rates of our cement, clinker and concrete
production lines were 83.0%, 114.8% and 49.9% respectively for year 2009
as compared with 85.9%, 115.5% and 54.3% for year 2008.

REPIRE E ST E R IR L AR

Two clinker production lines completed in Nanning, Guangxi
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Since coal priced at peak in October 2008, the price of coal decreased
in year 2009. The average price of coal we purchased in 2009 was
around HK$587 per ton, representing a decrease of 23.7% from the
average price of HK$769 per ton in 2008. We also managed to improve
our production technology and lower our unit coal consumption in the
clinker production process from the average of 171.4 Kg per ton of
clinker in 2008 to 160.8 Kg per ton of clinker in 2009. Our standard
coal consumption decreased from 110.0 Kg per ton of clinker in 2008
to 108.5 Kg per ton of clinker in 2009, representing a cost saving of
HK$107.3 million in total. Our average coal cost of production for 2009
dropped by 28.4% to HK$94.4 per ton of clinker produced. Coal cost
represented approximately 42.0% of the cost of sales for cement in 2009
(46.3% in 2008) and approximately 33.5% of the Group's total cost of
sales in 2009 (37.1% in 2008). We are exploring further possibilities to
lower our coal cost through technological upgrades and will expand our
sourcing channels with a view to keeping our coal cost at the lowest
level.

Our electricity cost dropped by 8.1% to HK$37.8 per ton of cement
due to lower electricity consumption and the cost reduction from the
use of residual heat recovery generators. We managed to improve our
electricity consumption from 94.2 KWh per ton of cement to 91.6 KWh
per ton of cement during the production process through technological
upgrade projects, representing a cost saving of approximately HK$26.8
million. Our residual heat recovery generators performed satisfactorily and
generated 477.2 million KWh of electricity in 2009, which was re-used
in our production process, representing an increase of 43.6% over 332.3
million KWh of electricity generated in 2008. The electricity generated
in 2009 accounted for approximately 26% of our required electricity
consumption. By reducing the use of electricity, we not only helped the
environment but also achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$246.0
million in 2009. We will continue to implement these measures to further
control our electricity cost. Electricity cost represented approximately
16.0% of the Group's total cost of sales in 2009 (14.6% in 2008).
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In the last quarter of 2009, the Xijiang River experienced one of the lowest
water level recorded in its history. As a result, the traffic along the Xijiang
River was reduced significantly and the delivery of our cement products
downstream to Guangdong was affected as we were unable to deliver
sufficient quantity of cement products by water to satisfy the demand
from our customers in Guangdong. In order to maintain the long term
relationship with our major customers in Guangdong, we arranged to
deliver some of our cement products by trucks for the affected section
of water transportation route. For cement products that were originally
allocated for our customers in Guangdong but could not be delivered as
planned, we were able to sell them in Guangxi at market prices due to the
strong demand for high quality cement products in Guangxi.

R F R BRI A6 B4

The piers at the Pingnan cement production plants
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Logistics is always on the top of our agenda in managing our business.
We have built over 20 silo terminals in Guangdong along the Xijiang
River and its branches to facilitate the sale of our cement products.
Following the commencement of operation of our Fengkai cement plant in
December 2009, our cement products can be delivered to our customers
in Guangdong directly from this plant moving forward and we will be
able to avoid any significant impact on our business arising from the traffic
interruption to the Xijiang River. In order to facilitate our business strategy
to extend our territorial coverage to East Guangdong and Fuijian, we will
set up our Logistics Department which aims at establishing a few strategic
logistics and distribution centres along the Xijiang River in Guangdong to
provide for the grinding, packing, distribution and storage of our cement
products. We are also exploring the possibility to own vessels and barges
for the purpose of transporting our cement products downstream to our
distribution centres and silos terminals located in Guangdong and coal and
raw materials upstream to our production sites in Guangxi so as to ensure
availability of adequate transportation facility and to stabilise the freight
cost of logistical movement on the Xijiang River.
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PROCUREMENT

In 2009 and earlier years, we secured coal supply substantially with
original sources from Vietnam through a number of distributors. In
order to control risk relating to coal supply, we began to source coal
supply from Northern China with a view to diversifying our suppliers and
minimising concentration risk. Although the coal prices of the Northern
China are relatively higher than those of Vietnam, the coals of Northern
China are generally of better quality as they can generate more heat
energy during the burning process. We are performing experimental tests
on blending these high quality coals with the less expensive coals with a
view to seeking a more effective production formula, so as to reduce our
production cost.

MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

In order to prepare for the rapid expansion of our Group and to fulfill
the need for management personnel at all levels, we plan to enhance
our human capital reserve. In addition to hiring more talents, we will
engage professionals and specialists to assist us in training our middle to
senior management to ensure that there is adequate pool of candidates
for the succession plan of each of our existing and future operating
units. We have also adopted performance appraisal systems for all levels
of employees such that each individual will be adequately remunerated
according to his or her performance.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There are more details regarding our Group's performance in the section
on Management Discussion and Analysis in this report.

ZHOU Longshan
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 19 March 2010
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Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2009
amounted to HK$6,906.9 million, representing an increase of 19.5%
over HK$5,781.3 million for the previous year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:
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2009 2008

Average Average
Volume selling price Turnover Volume  selling price Turnover
‘000 tons/m? HK$ HK$'000 ‘000 tons/m? HK$ HK$'000
KR Cement 16,446 272.9 4,488,004 13,206 2829 3,735,796
Hot Clinker 2,757 2113 582,674 1,348 2465 332,293
R Concrete 6,308 291.1 1,836,247 5,552 308.6 1,713,189
@ar Total 6,906,925 5,781,278
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The increase in volume sold in 2009 reflected the strong demand for our
products. Our new production capacities in 2009 allowed us to meet the
increase in demand for our products. For the year 2009, approximately
78.2% of the cement products we sold were of 42.5 or higher grades
(73.9% in 2008) and approximately 30.6% of our cement products were
sold in bags (24.3% in 2008). Internal sales volume of cement for our
concrete production was 1,321,000 tons, representing an increase of
4.6%. The intra-group transactions of HK$347,623,000 were eliminated
from turnover on consolidation in 2009.
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2009 were
HK$272.9 per ton, HK$211.3 per ton and HK$291.1 per m? respectively,
representing decreases of 3.5%, 14.3% and 5.7% respectively. The
change in average selling prices of cement and clinker in 2009 primarily
reflected the price decreases due to the reduced coal price in 2009 as
offset by the price increases due to freight cost increases arising from
the exceptionally low water level in the Xijiang River that were passed
on to our customers in the last quarter of 2009. The decrease in average
selling price of concrete in 2009 was due to the general decrease in the
cement prices. During the period of the exceptionally low water level in
the Xijiang River, our cement products that were originally allocated for
our customers in Guangdong could not be delivered as planned and they
were subsequently all sold in Guangxi at the market prices. Our cement
sales by geographical areas in 2009 were as follows:
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2009 2008

Average Average
Volume selling price Turnover Volume  selling price Turnover
‘000 tons HK$ HK$'000 '000 tons HK$ HK$'000
7,734 2704 2,090,807 7,644 286.9 2,193,037
7,937 2674 2,122,615 5,562 2774 1,542,759
118 279.6 33,119 - - -
657 367.4 241,463 - - -
16,446 2729 4,488,004 13,206 2829 3,735,796
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Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2009 was HK$2,042.1 million,
representing an increase of 54.8% over HK$1,319.2 million for 2008 and
the consolidated gross margin was 29.6%, representing an increase of
6.8 percentage points over 22.8% for 2008. The increase in consolidated
gross profit in 2009 was mainly attributable to the increase in sales
volume as well as the improvement in the overall gross margin due to
our lower production cost resulting from the return of coal prices to
reasonable levels in 2009 and our continuous effort in lowering the coal
and electricity consumption for our cement products. The gross margins
of cement, clinker and concrete for 2009 were 31.4%, 17.5% and
29.0%, as compared with 23.0%, 12.6% and 24.5% respectively for
2008.

Other income

Other income dropped by 71.1% from HK$265.5 million to HK$76.8
million in 2009 mainly due to the exchange gain of HK$183.6 million in
2008 derived from loans we originally borrowed in Hong Kong dollar. We
recognised the exchange gain due to the Renminbi appreciated against
the Hong Kong dollar during 2008. In 2009, the Renminbi was relatively
stable and no exchange gain was recognised.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2009 increased to HK$474.4 million,
which was 36.9% over HK$346.7 million for 2008. This was mainly
attributable to the additional freight cost of approximately HK$47.4
million in the last quarter of 2009 when we experienced a transportation
interruption due to the exceptionally low water level in the Xijiang
River and as a result, our Group incurred additional costs to deliver our
cement products to our customers in Guangdong. As a result, selling and
distribution expenses as a percentage to consolidated turnover increased
t0 6.9% in 2009 from 6.0% in 2008.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by 36.0% from HK$345.4
million in 2008 to HK$469.5 million for 2009. This was attributable to the
increase in staff costs as the result of increased number of employees in
line with our operation expansions, higher depreciation and amortisation
charges due to expanded business, the write off of pre-operating
expenses on the new projects and expenses incurred in connection with
the listing of the Shares.
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Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2009 was 2.5%, representing a
decrease of 2.3 percentage points from 4.8% of 2008. This was because
a higher portion of the profit was generated from subsidiaries which were
still entitled to the income tax exemption for the first two years starting
from their first profit-making year, followed by a 50% tax reduction for
the next three years.

Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2009 was 14.9%, which was 1.3
percentage points higher that of 13.6% for 2008. This was attributable
to the increase in our sales volume and the improvement in our overall
gross margins. These increases were partially offset by the increases in
operating expenses as mentioned above.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2009, the Group's cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:
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4,835,930 154,466
1,143,546 192,169

2,276 3
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As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
US$30.0 million, HK$2,990.0 million and RMB9,179.3 million and a
total amount of US$11.9 million, HK$779.2 million and RMB2,949.4
million remained available for draw down. Under the terms of certain
agreements for the total banking facility of HK$720.0 million equivalent,
CR Holdings, the Company's holding company is required to hold not less
than 51% of the voting share capital in the Company. Under the terms
of certain agreements for the total banking facility of HK$2,182.6 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (as may be adjusted
to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed 180-185%. The
net gearing ratio of the Company as at 31 December 2009 was 26.3%
(94.5% as at 31 December 2008).

As at 31 December 2009, the total bank loans of the Group amounted
to HK$9,377.6 million (HK$4,497.6 million as at 31 December 2008)
equivalent and they comprised loans in the following currencies:
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Among these bank loans denominated in RMB, total amount of
HK$936.8 million equivalent (Nil as at 31 December 2008) was secured
by bank deposits and fixed assets of the Group and HK$8,440.8 million
equivalent (HK$4,497.6 million as at 31 December 2008) was unsecured.

Bank loans which carried interests at fixed and variable rates amounted
to HK$681.4 million and HK$8,696.2 million respectively as compared to
HK$113.6 million and HK$4,384.0 million as at 31 December 2008.

The Group's business transactions in 2009 were mainly carried out in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group’s exposure to currency
risk was attributable to the bank balances and bank loans which were
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
entity to which these bank balances and bank loans were related.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the management
monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not engage in any hedging
transactions.

Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2009, certain assets of subsidiaries of the Company
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$844.6 million (Nil as at
31 December 2008) were pledged with banks for banking facilities used
by these subsidiaries.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

As stated in the Prospectus, the Group had plans to use the proceeds
obtained from the IPO, the amount applied to the intended use and the
residual amount to be used as at 31 December 2009 were as follows:

BZZERF
WRTER TAXAE RIZEBAE
WBTER  390BT BT REHER “BENF tZR=t-H
35587 fifg ERBEN RESNEN CHETAEH +t-A=t-H BFERAN
RENERER ERE FERE  FERELAE HEERRIE FasE
AEET AEET BEET BEET BEAT AEET
Additional Additional
Utilisation of proceedsto  proceeds from Used during Residual
proceeds be utilised the Over- Total the period balance to
if issue price if issue price allotment  Intended Use  from 6/10/2009 be used as
BR:tE Expansion Plan was HK$3.55  was HK$3.90 Option of Proceeds  t031/12/2009  at 31/12/2009
HK$ million HK$ million HKS million HKS million HKS million HK$ million
ERNEEIHOLES  Construction of production lines in
OKERAREEER Fengkai, Guangdong with a total
2 5124,000,00082 % capacity of 4.0 millon tons of
6,200,000 ) cement and 6.2 million tons of
clinker 23740 282.1 - 2,656.1 616.6 2,0395
ERUNERE)IOEER  Construction of production lines in
OKERAREEER Fuchuan, Guangxi with a total
51,900,001 2 capacity of 1.9 million tons of
1,600,008 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 3448 41.0 - 3858 1579 2279
ERUAERLBHEESR  Construction of production fines in
OKER#AREEER Shangsi, Guangxi with a total
4 51/1,900,0008 & capacity of 1.9 million tons of
1,600,001 ) cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 2513 299 - 2812 1277 1535
ERUAERMBOEER  Construction of production fines in
(KERARIREER Tianyang, Guangxi with a total
B 1,900,0001 &2 capacity of 1.9 millon tons of
1,600,0008) cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 700.5 83.2 - 7837 984 685.3
ERUAERRTHOEESR  Construction of production lines in
(KERAREEER Wuxuan, Guangyi with a total
4 §11,900,0008 & capacity of 1.9 million tons of
1,600,000 cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 692.9 823 - 7752 539 213
ERURERLBNEES  Construction of production lines in
(KEMBERR Shantou, Guangdong with a total
1,800,00014% ) capacity of 1.8 million tons of
cement 436 52 - 488 217 27.1
BERITER Repayment of bank loans 6178 - 3743 992.1 572.1 4200
BEASRAMLNARR Working capital and other corporate
usage 552.2 - - 552.2 552.2 -
55771 5237 3743 6,475.1 2,2005 42746

AEBERTIARSIFRNIRTT

Unused balance was kept as cash at bank.
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In addition to the expansion plan mentioned in the above section on Use
of Proceeds, the Company commenced the construction of one clinker
production line with annual capacity of 1.6 million tons and one cement
production line with annual capacity of 1.9 million tons in Luchuan,
Guangxi and one clinker production line with annual capacity of 1.6
million tons and one cement production line with annual capacity of
1.9 million tons in Yongding, Fujian in the fourth quarter of 2009. It is
expected that the cost for the construction of these production lines in
Luchuan and Yongding will amount to approximately HK$963.4 million
and HK$1,080.2 million respectively.

In December 2009, the Group had successfully bid for one 2500 t/d
NSP clinker and cement production line (which was under construction)
in Yangchun City, Guangdong at a consideration of RMB190.5 million.
We will further invest a total of HK$236.8 million to complete the
construction and it is expected that the production line will commence
operation by the end of 2010.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had approved and commenced
the construction of 13 concrete batching plants in Southern China with
total annual production capacity of 7.8 million m® at the total cost of
approximately HK$374.8 million.

AL BB 2T [ A2 T B R AR JE 4 ZE B B

A portion of the Company’s largest cement production plant under construction in Fengkai, Guangdong
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The future plan on capital expenditure and the expected sources of
funding is summarised as below:

RZBBRE  RZZENE BHRER  RURTERR
BHEEM +ZA=t+-B tZA=t-H NHRE RBEEN
BAX AR BRUHE  HHEARN  FEERA k2 0]
BERT BERT BERT BEAT BERT
Outstanding To be financed
Total capital Expended capital  To be financed by bank loans
expenditure asat  expenditure at by proceeds and internally
ER Projects for the project 31/12/2009 31/12/2009 fromIPO  generated funds
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HK$ million
BRUNERNANEER Construction of production lines in Fengka,
(KERABRLEEDFA Guangdong with a total capacity of 4.0
4,000,008 26,200,000 ) million tons of cement and 6.2 million tons
of clinker 53792 2,9543 24249 2,0395 385.4
ARURERE)IMNEER Construction of production lines in Fuchuan,
(UKERARBBELAFIR Guangyi with a total capacity of 1.9 million
1,900,000% % 1,600,000%) tons of cement and 1.6 milion tons of
clinker 1,0108 6418 369.0 2219 1411
FRUREALEMEER Construction of production lines in Shanggi,
(KERARMBEZDRA Guangxi with a total capacity of 1.9 milion
1,900,0008% 1 1,600,0008% ) tons of cement and 1.6 milion tons of
clinker 12239 890.6 3333 1535 179.8
ARUREARBMEER Construction of production lines in Tianyang,
(OKERARMBELDFIA Guangxi with a total capacity of 1.9 milion
1,900,0008 2 1,600,0008% ) tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 966.1 157.3 808.8 685.3 1235
ARUREARENEER Construction of production lines in Wuxuan,
(KERARIBEL DR Guangyi with a total capacity of 1.9 million
1,900,0008% & 1,600,0008% ) tons of cement and 1.6 milion tons of
clinker 902.1 9.2 803.9 7213 826
ERUNERIENLES Construction of production lines in Shantou,
(KRB EEA1,800,0000) Guangdong with a total capacity of 1.8
million tons of cement 2352 191.0 442 271 17.1
BRRNERE)HEER Construction of production lines in Luchuan,
(KERARMBEZ DA Guangxi with  total capacity of 1.9 milion
1,900,0008% & 1,600,0008% ) tons of cement and 1.6 million tons of
clinker 963.4 753 883.1 - 838,
BRUNRRATNEESR Construction of production lines in Yongding,
(KERARMBELDFIA Fujian Province, with a total capacity of 1.9
1,900,000% J%1,600, 00012 ) million tons of cement and 1.6 million tons
of clinker 1,080.2 836 9%.6 - 99%.6
HRNRNERBENEER Construction of production lines in Yangchun,
(KERARBELAFIR Guangdong with a total capacity of 1.0
1,000,000 800,008 ) million tons of cement and 0.8 million tons
of clinker 236.8 2.7 234.1 - 2341
ERIEERL AN (CEALA  Construction of 13 concrete batching plants
A2 A7,800,00012 75 K) with a total capacity of 7.8 million m? of
concrete 374.8 1049 269.9 - 2699
12,3725 5199.7 71728 3,854.6 33182

R_ZEAFE+-_A=1+—0 H
B RS H A $£35,100,0008 7T © B Lt o) -
REBR-TTHF+-A=+—HANEHHE
REAL HEHE % EETEIR
ETEMARTIER A S
IRITERRANIPELERE SRS -
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As at 31 December 2009, there were other outstanding contracts for
capital expenditure in the amount of HK$35.1 million. Apart from
the foregoing, the Group had no other significant planned capital
expenditure as at 31 December 2009. These planned and intended
capital expenditures and any other future expansion will be financed by
IPO proceeds, bank loans and internally generated funds.
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Employees

As at 31 December 2009, our Group employed a total of 11,303 full time
employees of whom 167 were based in Hong Kong and the remaining
11,136 were based in the Chinese Mainland. A breakdown of our
employees by functions is stated as follows:

Management 175
Finance and administration 1,987
Production and technical 7,780
Quality Control 1,109
Sales and marketing 252
Total 11,303

Among our 175 senior and middle managerial staff, 57% possess
university degrees, 34% have received post-secondary education and
their average age is about 39. We offer our employees remuneration
packages mainly on the basis of individual performance and experience
and also having regard to industrial practice, which include basic wages,
production unit allowance, performance related bonuses and other staff
benefits. The Company has established a share award scheme whereby
eligible employees of our Group may be granted shares of the Company
acquired by the trustee under the share award scheme. Details of the
share award scheme are stated in the section on Share Award Scheme in
the Report of the Directors.

RERFFEZTHETEHE

Employees’ dormitory under construction in Fengkai, Guangdong
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Back row from left to right: Mr. Pan Yonghong, Mr. Ding Yuankui, Mr. Lau Chung Kwok Robert,
Mr. Zeng Fanrong, Mr. Dong Bin, M. Ji Youhong.

Front row from left to right: Mi: Tang Jun, M. Wang Junxiang, Mr. Ng Chong, Madam Zhou Junqing,
Mi: Zhou Longshan, Madam Sun Mingquan, Mr. Yu Zhongliang.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Madam ZHOU Junqing, aged 56, has been an executive director of our
Company since June 2003 and has been the Chairman of our Company
since August 2008. She was the Chief Executive Officer of our Company
from September 2006 to August 2008. Madam ZHOU obtained a
bachelor's degree in wireless technology from the Tsinghua University,
China in 1979. She joined China Resources Group in 1986 and has 23
years of experience in international trade and corporate management.
She is the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association.

Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 49, has been an executive director of our
Company since March 2003 and has been the Chief Executive Officer
of our Company since August 2008. Mr. ZHOU was the Chairman, the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive director of China Resources Gas
Group Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange) from March
2008 to November 2008. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from the Jilin Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He
joined China Resources Group in 1984 and has 25 years of experience in
international trade and corporate management. He is the Vice Chairman
of the 5th Session of the Guangdong Province Cement Industry
Association and the Executive Member of the 1st Session of the Ready
Mixed Concrete Sub-council of China Concrete and Cement Products
Association.
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Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 53, joined our Company in May
2003 as the Chief Financial Officer and has been an executive director
of our Company since April 2008. Mr. LAU obtained a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences from the University of Hong Kong in 1979 and has 28
years of experience in reorganisation, assurance and advisory services with
international accounting firms and in serving as financial controllers and
chief financial officers of listed companies. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Mr. LI Fuzuo, aged 45, joined our Company as a non-executive director
in August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 1990 and is
currently the Chief Strategy Management Officer of CR Holdings and the
General Manager of its Strategy Management Department. He is also a
non-executive director of four listed companies on the Stock Exchange,
namely, China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land
Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited and China Resources
Gas Group Limited since February 2008, August 2007, March 2008
and August 2006, respectively. Mr. LI obtained both his bachelor’s and
master’'s degrees in mechanical manufacturing engineering from the
Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, China in 1987 and
1990, respectively.

Mr. DU Wenmin, aged 46, joined our Company as a non-executive
director in August 2008. He joined China Resources Group in 1985 and is
currently the Chief Human Resources Officer of CR Holdings. He has been
a non-executive director of four listed companies on the Stock Exchange,
namely, China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land
Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited and China Resources
Gas Group Limited since September 2007, August 2007, March 2008
and March 2008, respectively. Mr. DU obtained a master's degree in
business administration from the University of San Francisco, USA in
1993.

Mr. WEI Bin, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive director in
August 2008. He joined the China Resources Group in 2001 and is the
General Manager of the Finance Department of CR Holdings. He is also a
non-executive director of China Resources Gas Group Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. He holds a bachelor’s degree in auditing
and a master's degree in finance. He is a Senior Accountant and a Senior
Auditor in the PRC. He is also a non-practicing member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, aged 58, has been an independent non-
executive director of our Company since August 2008. Mr. IP graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in
1973. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973
and was promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997.
He worked in the Hong Kong Government as a Principal Official from
July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past
include Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labor, Secretary
for Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took
up the position of Secretary for Economic Development and Labor in
July 2002. His portfolio in respect of economic development covered
air and sea transport, logistics development, tourism, energy, postal
services, meteorological services, competition and consumer protection.
He was also responsible for labor policies including matters relating to
employment services, labor relations and employees rights. In his capacity
as Secretary for Economic Development and Labor, Mr. IP was a member
of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident
Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong International Theme Parks
Company Board as well as the Chairman of the Logistics Development
Council, Port Development Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation
Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong
Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award
from the Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice
of the Peace. Mr. IP has been appointed a director of three publicly listed
companies, namely Yangtze China Investment Ltd., a company listed in
the UK, since February 2008, Synergis Holdings Limited since September
2008 and Lai Sun Development Company Limited since December 2009,
both are companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 65, has been an independent non-
executive director of our Company since August 2008. Madam ZENG
is a senior engineer at professor level accredited by the State Economic
and Trade Commission and a registered consulting engineer (investment)
accredited by the National Development and Reform Commission. She
studied at the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963
to 1968 and started her career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement
Factory as a technician and director of the laboratory between 1969
and 1983. From 1984 to March 2001, she worked at the Production
Division and the Planning Division of the State Building Materials
Bureau and served as the deputy director and the director of the various
departments and divisions. She has been serving as the Vice President
of the China Cement Association from April 2001 to date. Madam
ZENG is specialised in managing matters in respect of the development
and planning for, and the scientific advancement, policies and laws
and regulations, construction investment in connection with as well as
setting up the relevant standards and quotas applicable to, the building
materials industry. She took the lead in formulating the relevant building
materials industry development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan,
Eighth Five-Year Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and
in setting up a wide spectrum of construction standards and quotas for
the building materials industry, including the Standards of Design for a
Cement Factory. For engineering and construction management, she
was awarded with a number of the Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the
provincial level.

Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, aged 41, has been an independent non-executive
director of our Company since August 2008. He is the sole proprietor
of Nelson and Company, Certified Public Accountants which has been
in operation since February 2005. He has extensive experience in
professional accountancy in Hong Kong, in particular in advising and
speaking on issues relating to International and Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other Asian cities. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 1992, a master degree of business administration from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1998 and a master of
science in finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001.
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Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of several professional
bodies in Australia, the USA and the United Kingdom, including CPA
Australia, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. He is also a
CFA charter holder and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors. Since 2007, he has been appointed as a Panel Member
of the Financial Reporting Review Panel by the Chief Executive of the
Hong Kong Government. In December 2006 Mr. LAM became a Council
Member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and since
January 2010, he has served as its Honorary Secretary. He has also been
appointed as Visiting Associate Professor in the Beijing Normal University—
Hong Kong Baptist University United International College since October
2008.

Madam SUN Mingquan, aged 54, has been appointed the Guangdong
regional general manager since September 2008. She joined China
Resources Group in 1984 and was an executive director of our Company
from June 2003 to August 2008. Madam SUN obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the University of International Business and
Economics, China in 1983. She has more than 20 years' experience in
international trade and corporate management.

Mr. PAN Yonghong, aged 39, has been appointed the Guangxi regional
general manager since September 2008. Mr. PAN joined our Group in
August 2003 and was formerly an executive director of CRC Investments
from February 2007 to February 2008. Mr. PAN obtained a master’s
degree in finance from the lJinan University, China in 1998. He has 16
years' experience in financial management.

Mr. DONG Bin, aged 45, joined our Group in January 2004 and has
been appointed the Fujian regional general manager since September
2008. Mr. DONG was the sales and marketing controller of our Company
from February 2008 to September 2008. He obtained a degree in cement
craftwork from the Shandong Institute of Building Materials, China in
1985 and has 23 years of experience in the cement industry.
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Mr. ZENG Fanrong, aged 46, joined our Group as the general
manager of Pingnan Cement in January 2005 and has been appointed
the Hainan regional general manager since February 2010. He was
appointed the chief operations controller of our Company from February
2008 to February 2010. He obtained a degree in electrical automation
engineering from the Sichuan Institute of Building Materials, China in
1984. He has more than 20 years’ experience in the cement industry.

Mr. YU Zhongliang, aged 44, joined our Company as a manager of
the investment department in July 2003 and has been appointed the
strategic development controller since February 2008 to be responsible
for the strategic development of our Group. He obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from the York University, Canada in
2003. He has 20 years of experience in finance accounting and business
analysis.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 44, joined our Group in October 2003 and
has been responsible for the management of our Group's concrete
operations. He has been appointed the sales and marketing controller
since November 2008. He graduated from the Nanjing Industrial College
(now Southeast University), China in 1988 with a master’s degree in
inorganic and non-metallic materials. He has over 20 years of experience
in construction material engineering.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 43, joined our Group as the general
manager of Pingnan Cement in September 2007 and has been
appointed the chief operations controller of our Company from February
2010 to be responsible for the overall business operations and project
development administration of our Company. He completed a certificate
course in ceramic technology from the Wuhan University of Technology,
China in 1993. He has more than 20 years’ experience in the cement
industry.

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 41, joined our Company in July 2003
and has been appointed the financial controller of our Company since
February 2008 to be responsible for our Group's financial affairs. He
has also been appointed the procurement controller of our Company
since February 2009 to be responsible for our Group’s purchases of raw
materials and coal. Mr. WANG joined China Resources Group in 1989. He
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia in 2004 and has 14 years' experience in financial
management.
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Mr. DING Yuankui, aged 35, joined our Company in April 2008 and
has been appointed the human resources controller since November
2008 to be responsible for our Group’s human resources affairs. He
obtained a degree in business administration from the Zhongnan
University of Economics, China in 1996 and a master’s degree in business
administration from the Tsinghua University, China in 2003 and a
professional training certificate from the American International Training
Association in 2004. He has 12 years of experience in corporate human
resources management and marketing management.

Mr. TANG Jun, aged 54, joined our Company as the general manager
of the human resources and administration department in November
2007 and has been appointed as the controller of the CEQ’s office since
February 2008 to assist the Chief Executive Officer of our Company
in discharging his responsibilities. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Chinese language and literature from the Sichuan University, China in
1982. Mr. TANG was formerly employed at the Ministry of Commerce,
China, where he served as a director.

Madam WANG Liling, aged 47, joined the Internal Audit Department
of our Company in November 2008 and has been appointed its General
Manager since January 2010. She joined China Resources Group in 1986
and worked in the Internal Audit and Supervision Department of CR
Holdings from May 2001 to November 2008. Madam WANG obtained
a bachelor’s degree in financial accounting from the Shanxi University
of Finance and Economics in China in 1984. She is a Senior Accountant
and a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in the PRC. She has more than 25 years' experience in
financial accounting and internal auditing.

Mr. NG Chong, aged 40, joined our Company as the assistant to the
Chief Executive Officer since August 2008. He graduated from the Beijing
University of Technology, China in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree in
marketing. Mr. NG has 18 years of experience in international trade and
corporate management.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the production and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 75.

DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment properties of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 17 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the authorised and issued share capital of
the Company for the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in form of
cement finished goods in the total amount of HK$11,612,000.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there is currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of the
Company'’s shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and
there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 78.

As at 31 December 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$9,336.4
million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

ZHOU Junging

ZHOU Longshan

LAU Chung Kwok Robert
Non-executive Directors

LI Fuzuo

DU Wenmin

WEI Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors
IP Shu Kwan, Stephen

ZENG Xuemin
LAM Chi Yuen
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert and
Mr. LI Fuzuo shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and still considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses determined by the Board
having regard to the Group’s performance and the prevailing market
condition and approved by the Remuneration Committee. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are stated in Note 10 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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EENFTETHAENFESN DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

&= INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
RZZBENF+_A=1+—"H BEZFLENEE  As at 31 December 2009, the Directors, chief executives or their

—~

EHIZE352EBR AR RTFEMNECMAFTAECE:  associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying shares of
BRES TETHRAEFFENHEALNA  the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
DR REMEBEENRG RAEBRGTHEERE  maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO as
FHRERMAT: follows:

(a) ZF2nF (@)  The Company

RIRH R

HEROZHFR

BBIEERRF

BERTREAZ

EEn 56 FEROEE LBl (1)
(%)

Aggregate

long position

in Shares and

underlying Shares

to issued share

Number of capital of the

Name of Director Capacity Shares held Company (note 7)
(%)

AL BB & 800,000 0.01

Zhou Longshan Interest of spouse

i note:

1. REARARR=ZZEZENF+=_A=+—H 1. Based on 6,519,255,462 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
56,519,255 46208 2 TR DR - December 2009.

40 FEBAKREZERERAT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



(b)

EHRAXERQF

=)

BEsns

(KXATzMEE  (b)  China Resources Enterprise, Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

R4 R
HBERGD TR
BBLEERIZE
BRARE#T

IR 2 te )

&4 RGO EE (521)
(%)

Aggregate

long position

in shares and

underlying

shares to issued

share capital of

China Resources

Number of Enterprise,
Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (note 1)
(%)
HXE EmEEA 100,000 0.01
Du Wenmin Beneficial owner
it note:
1. RBEFERAEARRAAR_ZZNF+= 1. Based on 2,395,548,120 shares of China Resources Enterprise, Limited in

A =+—H7%52,395,548,1200% 2 %17 (DT issue as at 31 December 2009.

o
o
>



() EBEHERERAT (XATZH

BoEE)

B

Name of Director

JE &I
Zhou Junging

&g
Zhou Longshan

20 E
Lau Chung Kwok
Robert

FRIE

Li Fuzuo

Loy
Wei Bin

HXR

Du Wenmin

5%

Capacity

EnAA

Beneficial owner

EREBA
Beneficial owner
o (B =

Interest of spouse

EnAA

Beneficial owner

EnBAA

Beneficial owner

BalEA

Beneficial owner

BESlEEA

Beneficial owner

() China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company

FriE R BE

Number of
shares held

70,864

60,000

31,032

741,780

121,000

297,000

REGH R
MERD 2z
FREBH
HERELER
BRDA
BRITRAE
2Bl (1)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying

HERA )

shares to

issued share
capital of China
Resources
Power Holdings
Company
Limited (note 7)
(%)

Underlying
shares Total

- 70,864 0.01

48,864 48,864 0.01

12,216 72,216 0.01

- 31,032 0.01

61,080

802,860 0.02

- 121,000 0.01

183,240 480,240 0.01



RIBEHENIERER DA 2 EARERT Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding

£ R EEE IR ER AT ERRK under the share option scheme of China Resources Power
ZMARITEREIRFEFT Y I 2 #ERARR (D 1R Holdings Company Limited to subscribe for ordinary shares in
N China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited are as follows:
BRRBR
RERG 2
BREHA By
HERENER
RZBELE RZBELE BRAR
+AXA +ZA=1+-H BETRAZ
EEpg RUEAH ERBH e HROE  HEEAE HRATE bl (1)
() (%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying
shares to
issued share
Number of share options capital of
China Resources
Outstanding Exercised  Outstanding  Power Holdings
Exercise at during at Company
Name of Director  Date of grant Date of expiry price 6/10/2009 the Period 31/12/2009  Limited (note 1)
(HKS) (%)
AL “EE=5+AXE  —E-=ETAAA 275 61,080 - 61,080 001 (#2k3)
Zhou Longshan 6/10/2003 5/10/2013 (notes 283)
28R ZZT=F1A7H —£-=#1A1A 2.75 24432 24432 - -
Lau Chung Kwok ~ 6/10/2003 5/10/2013
Robert
e “IERE-ATAR ZE-REZATLA 3919 61,080 - 61,080 001 (#4)
Li Fuzuo 18/3/2005 17132015 (note 4)
HXR “$T=F+-A+-B —ET-=#TAEH 2.75 183,240 - 183,240 001 (#3)
Du Wenmin 12/11/2003 5/10/2013 (note 3)
it notes:
1. RIBEBEENERERATR-ZEZTNSF 1. Based on 4,683,431,271 shares of China Resources Power Holdings
+ = A=1+—HE4683431271E &1 TH Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2009.
Dt
2. FEERBNIZERER AT 261,080 5 2. Out of these options for 61,080 shares in China Resources Power Holdings
EREEREE T B12216088 7 2 EAE Company Limited, options for 12,216 shares are held by Mr. Zhou
HEREIL LA BBRE A EFR A Longshan’s spouse, and therefore Mr. Zhou is deemed to be interested in
R EEREP R these share options.
3. ZERERARE AT IE T B HARTRER 1 T{E 3. These share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.
4. REBREATR-_Z—ZF=AT/\BZE 4. These share options are exercisable from 18 March 2010 to the date of
fEm B AR T{E - expiry.

5. IR 2 R(EHR1.008 7T 5. Consideration for each of the above grants is HK$1.00.
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=)

EEpns

Name of Director

JEE I
Zhou Junging

ZFafE

Li Fuzuo

R

Du Wenmin

L

Capacity

BEmEAA

Beneficial owner

EmBEA A
Beneficial owner

EmEA A
Beneficial owner

(d) China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of

the Company
FERAEE HER 5
Number of Underlying
shares held shares
30,000 -
1,000,000 -
790,000 250,000

st

Total

30,000

1,000,000

1,040,000

R R
HBERGZEFR
YN ERE

BRAH

ERTRE
2Ll (7271)
(%)

Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying
shares to
issued share
capital of China
Resources Land
Limited (note 1)
(%)

0.01

0.02

0.02



RIREREM AR A ERETE - 7 Underlying shares represented by share options outstanding

REEE B AR AR TR Z WA TE under the share option scheme of China Resources Land Limited
REIRAEPT S N 2 MR AN TS to subscribe for ordinary shares in China Resources Land Limited

are as follows:

RBHR
LGLE GELORE
BELEREY
RZ2ENE R=2Zh%F BRAR
THAAH T-B=t+-A BEIRA
ESfg RiLAE EREH e W AT i RETH AT 2l (it1)
(B7) (%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
Number of share options underlying
shares to issued
Outstanding Exercised Outstanding share capital of
Exercise at during at China Resources
Name of Director ~ Date of grant Date of expiry price 6/10/2009 the Period 31/12/2009 Land Limited
(hote 1)
(HK9) (%)
HXR —ETR§~A-H “F-RFRA=1-H 123 250,000 - 250,000 0.01
Du Wenmin 1/6/2005 31/52015
2 notes:
1. BIBFFEHBMARARR_ZTTNF+= 1. Based on 5,030,011,168 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
A =+—H%55,030,011,1680% 2 3178 D5+ as at 31 December 2009.
o
2. ZE BT W B EARTRER T T{E 2. The share options are exercisable any time until the date of expiry.

3. a2 R (ER1.008 7T 3. Consideration for the above grant is HK$1.00.



(e) EHRIFERERAA (KXQXTHME (e)  China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated

BiEE) corporation of the Company
R4 R
HERGZFR
BYEEEMRR
ERERAF
2 RITRA
BEEHR &4 FrERAEE 2Bl (it1)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and
underlying
shares to
issued share
capital of
China Resources
Number of Gas Group
Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (note 1)
(%)
JEI £ 58D EnERA 34,800 0.01
Zhou Junging Beneficial owner
JEgEW ExnERA 6,000 0.01
Zhou Longshan Beneficial owner
FEfF BESBEAA 51,000 0.01
Li Fuzuo Beneficial owner
X BEmlEAA 54,000 0.01
Du Wenmin Beneficial owner
it note:
1. BRI RRRIERBER AR _STNGF 1. Based on 1,414,416,710 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
+=—A=+—8%1,414,416,7100% B 31T issue as at 31 December 2009.
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EE)

BEsns

Name of Director

IEkE:l
Zhou Junging

ZFafE

Li Fuzuo

HXR

Du Wenmin

R
Wei Bin

T

g

Capacity

BEmfEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

Beneficial owner

EmEEA
Beneficial owner

EDHEBA

Beneficial owner

1. REBEFERETFTARAFANR_ZTNF
+=A=+—H%8789,401,958% 2 #17

EORES

China Resources Microelectronics Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

R4 R
HBERGD TR
HMBULEBWET

BRAT

BRTRA
2Bl (it1)
(%)
Aggregate
long position
in shares and

FrEsROEE

underlying

shares to issued

share capital of

China Resources

Number of  Microelectronics

shares held Limited (hote 1)
(%)

1,539,600 0.02
918,000 0.01
1,458,000 0.02
324,000 0.01

note:

1. Based on 8,789,401,958 shares of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited in issue as at 31 December 2009.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, so far as known to
the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of it associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be
recorded in the register referred to therein. Nor any of the Directors and
the chief executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) had, as at 31 December 2009, any interest in, or had been granted
any right to subscribe for the securities and options of the Company
and its associated corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had
exercised any such rights.

As at 31 December 2009, so far as known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

B under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
BEEREZALEE BE/ KB BHAEBE RESIEIL
(%)

Name of interested party

Long position/Short position

Approximate

No. of Shares shareholding

REEREANR (7F1)
China Resources National Corporation
(note 1)

EFRBRDBRAR (1)

China Resources Co., Limited (note 1)

CRC Bluesky Limited (5#7)
CRC Bluesky Limited (note 1)

2 (%E) (#71)
CR Holdings (note 1)

A

Long position

i

Long position

Sy}

Long position

wE

Long position

(%)
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34



BEEZALER

Name of interested party

Firstsuccess Investments Limited (5#7) B
Firstsuccess Investments Limited (note 1)

&y (aZ71)
Smooth Concept (note 1)

JPMorgan Chase & Co. (7£2)
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (note 2)

it

1. FREERAARDEEERIRNERAREIHEH
TTIRAN4799.98% it M B 2 A A + M 1% & ABCRC
Bluesky Limited® #E2 BT A B A A » CRC
Bluesky Limited X /3358 (5 ®) 2 HMEHTRANE
=EAAEH (B EERHAEREEIEEZ2HE
BATIRAHERS - BIE(R BRI B M B £952.7% K 4E
25 J (i) 3BFirstsuccess Investments Limited (28 (£
V)R A M B A R BB A 4047 3%/ R - JE
BI#5754,781,051 A62M X 17 - (5 AN A RIE B ITIAL
73.34% °

2. RIE S N EIE 0 EXVEP 230 SR E B T i
BBk 5D HIPMorgan Chase & Co. R HE
Bk R R 100% 20,2 245 H1A @ (BRJ.P. Morgan
Securities Ltd¥ + 5% RIFRE 55 98.95% ## 4k ) 7 Bk
AR S 04E

3%

Capacity
EmEAA
REREA
RO HARIEA

B EXFREESN REFFRMN R-EBAE
+=A=+— B BEEA A RREAR
SR DIV F2 30 MR AR AL
AR R BN A TR ES (G
15336117 B 0B 2R A A TR R
RRHA MRS ©

D

)ﬂ]]

juni}
el
LMJ

wE

Long position

wE

Long position

BR/ KR

Long position/Short position

Long position

notes:

Beneficial owner
Investment manager
Approved lending agent

ROEHBE RESLEIL

(%)

Approximate

No. of Shares shareholding
(%)

4,781,051,462 73.34
4,781,051,462 73.34
398,240,000 6.11

China Resources National Corporation is the beneficial owner of approximately
99.98% of the entire issued share capital of China Resources Co., Limited, which
in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of CRC Bluesky
Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
of CR Holdings. CR Holdings holds, directly and indirectly, the entire share capital
of Smooth Concept which comprise (i) approximately 52.7% of direct interest in
Smooth Concept and (i) approximately 47.3% of indirect interest held through
Firstsuccess Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Holdings. Smooth
Concept held 4,781,051,462 shares representing approximately 73.34% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, these shares were held by JPMorgan Chase & Co. and
corporations controlled directly or indirectly as to 100% by it (other than J.P. Morgan
Securities Ltd. which was controlled indirectly as to 98.95% by it) in the respective

following capacity:

RHEE
Number of
shares

500,000
367,126,000
30,614,000

Save as disclosed above, so far as known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2009, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the

SFO.
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Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements also constituted continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such
transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the Company with

connected parties during the year are summarised below:

Sale of cement to Redland Precast
Concrete Products Limited,
a subsidiary of CR Holdings

Sale of cement to certain subsidiaries
of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary

Sale of concrete to certain
subsidiaries of CR Holdings

Sale of concrete to China Resources
Construction Company Limited,
a subsidiary of CR Holdings

Sale of concrete to Penta-Ocean-
CRCC JV, a joint venture beneficially
owned as to 35% of China Resources
Construction Company Limited

Sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited,
a subsidiary of China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited

Provision of testing service to
certain subsidiaries of CR Holdings

Purchase of fuel, diesel and
lubricant oil from certain
subsidiaries of CR Holdings

Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum
from Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

Purchase of ash and slag from
Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

=8
TAET

Amount
HK$'000

4,575

2,399

1,202

22,564

577

1,266

4,847

207

463

B PPTR F
HBRENFE LR
TET

Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the
Stock Exchange
HK$'000

8,000

5,000

14,800

7,400

23,000

1,368

3,000

5,000

1,368

5,244
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Sale of Cement to Redland Precast Concrete Products Limited

The Company entered into a Cement Supply Framework
Agreement on 1 January 2008 with CR Holdings for the sale
of cement products to certain subsidiaries of CR Holdings
with a term of three years, and a supplemental agreement on
1 August 2009 to extend the term to 31 December 2011. The
Cement Supply Framework Agreement has a term of three
years commencing on the date of the agreement and may be
terminated earlier by either party giving three months’ prior
written notice. Under the Cement Supply Framework Agreement,
the prices charged by us for our cement products will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the relevant parties
with reference to the prevailing market prices.

During the year, the Company supplied cement to Redland
Precast Concrete Products Limited for the manufacture of its
precast concrete products.

Sale of Cement to China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

Under the Cement Supply Framework Agreement with CR
Holdings entered into on 1 January 2008 with a term of three
years as mentioned in transaction number 1 above, during the
year, the Company also supplied cement to certain subsidiaries
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited which was
used for the construction of power plants.

Sale of Concrete to subsidiaries of CR Holdings

The Company entered into a Concrete Supply Framework
Agreement dated 1 January 2009 with CR Holdings for the
sale of ready mixed concrete to certain subsidiaries of CR
Holdings for their construction work of a real estate project in
Nanning, Guangxi under a major construction contract and other
construction projects. The agreement has a term commencing on
the date of the agreement and ended on 31 December 2009 and
may be terminated earlier by either party giving three months’
prior written notice. Under the agreement, the prices charged
by us for our concrete products will be negotiated on an arm'’s
length basis between the relevant parties with reference to the
prevailing market prices.
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Sale of Concrete to China Resources Construction Company
Limited

Redland Concrete Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009
for the sale of ready mixed concrete, to China Resources
Construction Company Limited, a subsidiary of CR Holdings by
Redland Concrete Limited and its subsidiaries for its construction
projects in Hong Kong. The agreement has a term commencing
from the date of the agreement to 31 December 2011 and may
be terminated earlier by either party giving three months’ prior
written notice. Under the agreement, the prices charged by the
Redland Concrete Limited and its subsidiaries will be negotiated
on an arm’s length basis between the parties with reference to
the prevailing market prices.

Sale of Concrete to Penta-Ocean-CRCC JV

Redland Concrete Limited entered into an agreement dated
24 May 2008 for the sale of ready mixed concrete by Redland
Concrete Limited and its subsidiaries to Penta-Ocean-CRCC JV,
a joint venture beneficially owned as to 65% by Penta-Ocean
Construction Co. Ltd. and 35% by China Resources Construction
Company Limited. The agreement may be terminated earlier
by either party giving three months’ prior written notice. Under
the agreement, the prices charged by Redland Concrete Limited
and its subsidiaries will be negotiated on an arm’s length basis
between the parties with reference to the prevailing market
prices.

Sale of limestone powder to Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement dated
2 November 2009 on behalf of certain wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company which are engaged in the production of cement
and concrete in the PRC for the sale of limestone powder to
Guangzhou China Resources Thermal Power Company Limited,
an indirectly owned subsidiary of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company,
for its power generating business. The agreement has a term
commencing from the date of the agreement to 31 December
20711. Under the agreement, the unit selling price of limestone
powder is RMB115.0 per ton subject to quarterly review and
adjustment with reference to the prevailing market prices of
limestone powder.
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Provision of testing service to certain subsidiaries of CR
Holdings

Quality Control Consultants Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement dated 1 January 2009
for the provision of testing services with a credit term of 30 days
to a number of subsidiaries of CR Holdings, including Redland
Precast Concrete Products Limited, China Resources Construction
Limited and Strong Progress Limited. The agreement has a term
of three years commencing on the date of the agreement and
ending on 31 December 2011 and may be terminated earlier
by either party giving three months’ prior written notice. The
fees receivable by Quality Control Consultants Limited were
determined with reference to the prevailing market prices. Market
prices are determined during negotiations with our customers.

Purchase of Fuel, Diesel and Lubricant Oil from certain
subsidiaries of CR Holdings

The Company entered into a Fuel, Diesel and Lubricant Oil Supply
Agreement dated 1 January 2008 with CR Holdings for the
purchase of fuel, diesel and lubricant oil from certain subsidiaries
of CR Holdings with a term of three years, and a supplemental
agreement dated 1 August 2009 with the same party to extend
the term to 31 December 2011. The Fuel, Diesel and Lubricant
Oil Supply Agreement may be terminated earlier by either party
giving three months’ prior notice. The fuel, diesel and lubricant
oil purchased by us are for electricity generation, operation and
maintenance of our concrete mixer trucks and equipment. The
prices payable by us for the fuel, diesel and lubricant oil will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the relevant parties
with reference to the prevailing market prices.
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Purchase of de-sulphur gypsum from Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
de-sulphur gypsum which is a type of raw material used in the
production of cement. The de-sulphur gypsum will be used by
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company which are
engaged in the production of cement and concrete in the PRC.
The agreement has a term commencing from the date of the
agreement to 31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the unit
selling price of de-sulphur gypsum is RMB73.0 per ton subject to
quarterly review and adjustment with reference to the prevailing
market prices of de-sulphur gypsum.

Purchase of ash and slag from Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Power Company Limited

China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into an
agreement dated 2 November 2009 with Guangzhou China
Resources Thermal Power Company Limited for the purchase of
ash and slag. Ash is a type of raw material that is used in the
production of cement and concrete and slag is a type of raw
material used in the production of cement. The ash and slag will
be used by certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company
which are engaged in the production of cement and concrete.
The agreement has a term commencing from the date of the
agreement to 31 December 2011. Under the agreement, the
respective unit purchase prices of ash and slag are RMB88.0 per
ton and RMB12.0 per ton respectively, subject to quarterly review
and adjustment with reference to the prevailing market prices of
ash and slag.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed these
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether
they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
(as appropriate) independent third parties;

(@) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, our
independent auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the
effect that the above transactions:

(a) have received the approval of the Board,;

(b) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company (transactions one to seven which involved
provision of goods or services by the Company);

(©) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

(d) have not exceeded the cap disclosed in the Prospectus
and previous announcement.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases.
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The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) on
2 September 2009. The Scheme does not constitute a share option
scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary
scheme of the Company. The purpose of the Scheme is to recognise
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding any
director of the Company, towards the development of our Group in the
past or as incentives to selected grantees to achieve higher than target
profits for our Group and to align the interests of the selected grantees
with sustainable growth and development of our Group.

The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the Scheme shall not
exceed 2.5% of all issued shares of the Company. The aggregate number
of Shares which may be awarded to a selected grantee under the Scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company. A trust
has been set up and BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed
as the trustee. Pursuant to the Scheme, the trustee may purchase Shares
from the public market out of cash contributed by the Company from
time to time. Shares purchased under the Scheme will be held in trust for
the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance with
the provisions of the rules relating to the Scheme. The Scheme will be
effective for a term of 10 years until 2 September 2019 unless terminated
at the discretion of the Board at an earlier date.

The trustee subscribed and was allotted 160,000,000 Shares from the IPO
at the price of HK$3.90 per share. As at 31 December 2009, none of the
Shares acquired and held on trust by the trustee has been granted to any
eligible employee.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 20009.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2009, the
Company complied with all code provisions as well as most of the
recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules except that all non-
executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all
Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, there are
sufficient measures to ensure the corporate governance of the Company
complies with the same level to that required under the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 58 to 72 of
this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 164.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2009 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
independent auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board
ZHOU Junqing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2010
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The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain the
highest standards of corporate governance as the Board believes that
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing
shareholder value and safe guarding interests of our shareholders and
other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasised a quality Board,
effective internal control, stringent disclosure practices and transparency
and accountability to all stakeholders.

During the period from 6 October 2009, being the first day of the listing
of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange, to 31 December 2009,
the Company complied with all code provisions as well as most of the
recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules except that all non-
executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term. The following
summarises the Company's corporate governance practices:

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the
Company and overseeing the management of the business. The Directors
are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and making
decisions objectively in the best interest of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear guidance regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to
ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to make
independent judgments effectively. The operation and management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Company’s business
should be clearly divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a
balance of power and authority and that power will not be concentrated
in any one individual.
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Throughout the period from the listing of the Company’s shares on 6
October 2009 to 31 December 2009, the Board comprised 9 Directors,
including 3 executive Directors, namely, Madam ZHOU Junging, Mr.
ZHOU Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, three non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. LI Fuzuo, Mr. DU Wenmin and Mr. WEI Bin,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu
Kwan, Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen. The
representation of independent non-executive Directors fulfilled the
minimum requirement of the Listing Rules throughout the period from
the listing of the Company'’s shares on 6 October 2009 to 31 December
2009. A description of the Directors is set out in the Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management Section on pages 30 to 36 and on
the Company’s website.

For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must be satisfied
that the Director does not have any direct or indirect material relationship
with the Group. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board
follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors as independent.

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman and an executive Director, Madam ZHOU
Junging, approves and monitors the Company's strategies and policies,
annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the
Company, and supervises the management of the Company. The senior
management team is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group under the leadership of Mr. ZHOU Longshan, an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman, Madam ZHOU Junging, is responsible
for providing leadership to, and overseeing the functioning of, the
Board to ensure that it acts in the best interests of the Group and that
Board meetings are planned and conducted in an effective manner.
The Chairman is also responsible for setting the agenda for each Board
meeting, taking into consideration, where appropriate, matters proposed
by the Directors and the Company Secretary for inclusion in the agenda.
With the support of executive Directors and the Company Secretary,
the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly informed
of issues arising at Board meetings and provided with adequate and
accurate information in a timely manner. The Chairman also actively
encourages the directors of the Company to be engaged in the Board'’s
affairs and contribute to the Board's functions. The Board, under the
leadership of the Chairman, has complied with the corporate governance
practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps to provide
effective communication with our shareholders and other stakeholders, as
outlined in the latter section headed Supply of and Access to Information
for Board Meeting.



THAESERLTERBEEARENES
FEBEEE 2EHE MK TESTEH
HUER SR BIBER MR ML A A KB B HE
tFREESAERIET-

THRAEERER B R ARENLERE BRI
HEFVEEILRELERGREREFRHER
AEEGREFEREUHEBRIE  WHR
EXQRBARMAKEEERB I ENESH RN
FIB L BEER - WIS HEREBNESHFREE
BT ) B SR Y R RS RAE DALE
HBHEBMREINIEE - AN ESREERTTE) -
HETFEREPBEESTMRBNSHELRE
BB EERGOBRREFR

ExeEleEenmMEF2 MR -REH
VeET  AEENEREEEERAREER
AR LERTHNEFRHUEN HEESRA
BB MER B0 BERERNARENE
BRI ERER -

REFENTMERNS EFKEDENTT
AESENSHAMLESHINTIN=RER
R ENARX M - pEMEENE AR
EOERNERT EFEeRE8RTRFBA-
FRARRMABMERARIFTAFHZFE RN
ERMEAEH X5 LHRAEESIRE AL
IR EMBREET R EEARRNES
HAMERRERNENE R ERES TSR
ARREEEABNEBE AN

The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, is responsible for
managing the businesses of the Group, coordinating overall business
operations, attending to the formulation and successful implementation
of Group policies and strategies approved by the Board and assuming full
accountability to the Board for all the Group's day-to-day operations.

The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining
the operational performance of the Group. He also works with the
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and the senior
management team and presents annual budgets to the Board for
consideration and approval, and ensures that the Board is provided
with all the necessary information relating to the funding requirements
of the businesses of the Group. He will also ensure that the funding
requirements of the businesses are met and closely monitors the
operating and financial results of the businesses against plans and
budgets, taking remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly
with the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all
major business development and issues.

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the
Group provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding
the activities and development in the businesses of the Group. The
Directors have full access to information on the Group and independent
professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary by the
Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and an
agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to
the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much notice
as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. Except for those
circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association of the Company,
a Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for
consideration, will abstain from voting on the relevant resolution and
such Director is not counted for quorum determination purpose.
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The Board held one meeting during the period from the listing of the
Company’s shares on 6 October 2009 to 31 December 2009. The
meeting was called to discuss on the continuing connected transactions
between the Company and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company. All Directors except Madam
ZENG Xuemin attended the meeting.

None of the Directors, including the non-executive Directors, has a
service contract with the Company and there are no specific terms of
their appointments. However, all Directors are subject to re-election
by shareholders at annual general meetings and at least about once
every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election
and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. There are sufficient measures to
ensure the corporate governance of the Company complies with the
same level to that required under the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as more
fully explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with a
comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior executives.
Continuing education and information are provided to the Directors
regularly to help ensuring that the Directors are apprised of the latest
changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which
the Group conducts its businesses.

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the year.

The Company established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009.
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The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM
Chi Yuen and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen. The duties of the Audit
Committee are as follows:

Relationship with the Group’s auditors

@)

being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

developing and implementing policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services and reporting to the
Board, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that
action or improvement is needed and making recommendations
as to the steps to be taken;

discussing with the external auditor before the audit commences,
the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is involved;

discussing problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the external auditor may wish
to discuss (in the absence of the senior management where
necessary);
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Review of financial information of the Group

(f)

monitoring integrity of the Group's financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In this regard,
in reviewing the Group's annual reports and accounts, half-
year reports and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports
before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee shall
focus particularly on: (i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices; (i) major judgmental areas; (iii) significant adjustments
resulting from audit; (iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications; (v) compliance with accounting standards; and (vi)
compliance with any requirements from the Stock Exchange and
other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting;

in respect of (f) above: (i) liaising with the Board and the
senior management; (i) meeting, at least once a year, with
the Company's auditors; and (i) considering any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such
financial statements, reports and accounts and giving due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by the Group’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors;

Oversight of the Group's financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

(h)

reviewing the Group's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

discussing with the management of the Group any matters in
relation to the Company'’s internal control system and ensuring
that the senior management has discharged its duties in
establishing and maintaining an effective internal control system
including adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or auditors;

considering any findings of major investigations of internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and the
response of the senior management;
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)

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Group, and reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to the senior management in respect
of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and the response of the senior management;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in these terms;

reviewing arrangements by which employees of the Group
may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters and
ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for the fair and
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the Group’s
relationship with the external auditor; and

considering any other topics, as defined by the Board.

No meeting of the Audit Committee was held during the period from
the listing of the Company’s shares on 6 October 2009 to 31 December
2009. Subsequent to the year end, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and

its subsidiaries covering all material financial, operational and compliance

controls and risk management functions. An Audit Committee meeting

has been held to review this internal control report submitted by the

Internal Audit Department of the Company and the internal weakness
report submitted by the independent auditor, and is satisfied that

such systems are effective and adequate. At the meeting, the Audit

Committee also approved the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2009. From 2010, the Audit Committee
will meet at least four times a year to discuss the internal control and

other audit related issues.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin
and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen, and two executive Directors, Mr. ZHOU Longshan
and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Madam ZENG
Xuemin. The duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and the
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

(b) being responsible for determining the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management
and to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee shall
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and the
senior management, remuneration levels within the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration packages;

(© reviewing and approving any performance-based remuneration
offered by the Group with reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(d) reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and the senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment
in order to ensure that such compensation is determined
in accordance with the relevant contractual terms and that
such compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive for the
Company;

(e) reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct in order to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment is
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
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(f) ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

(9) advising the shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of the Directors that require shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules; and

(h) reviewing the Group's policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and the senior management.

In carrying out the duties under these terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration Committee should:

(a) consult the chairman of the Board and/or the chief executive
officer about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
the executive Directors and have access to professional advice if
considered necessary;

(b) provide the packages needed to attract, retain and motivate
executive Directors of the quality required, but avoid paying more
than is necessary for this purpose;

(© judge where to position the Group relative to other companies.
They should be aware what comparable companies are paying
and should take account of relative performance;

(d) be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment
conditions within the Group and elsewhere, especially when
determining annual salary increases;

(e) ensure that the performance-related elements of remuneration
form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package
of executive Directors and are designed to align their interests
with those of shareholders and to give the Directors incentives to
perform at the highest levels; and

) ensure that share options offered by the Company to its Directors
or senior management (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, as applicable.
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The Remuneration Committee shall:

@)

(d)

operate the Company's share award schemes or other incentives
schemes (if any) as they apply to, and recommend to the general
meeting of shareholders grants of awards to be made to Directors
and/or senior management. It shall recommend to the Board the
total aggregate amount of any grants to employees (with the
specific grants to individuals to be at the discretion of the Board)
and make amendments to the terms of such schemes (subject to
the provisions of the schemes relating to amendment);

liaise with the trustee of any employee share scheme which is
created by the Company for the benefit of employees, senior
management or Directors;

review the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts from
time to time; and

advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the Board's
remuneration report (if any) to shareholders.

No meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the period
from the listing of the Company’s shares on 6 October 2009 to 31
December 2009. From 2010, the Remuneration Committee will meet at
least once a year.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen, and one executive Director, Madam ZHOU Junging, and
is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen. The duties of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

@)

regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) required of the Board
and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any
changes;

giving full consideration to succession planning for Directors in
the course of its work, taking into account the challenges and
opportunities facing the Company and what skills and expertise
are therefore needed on the Board in the future;
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identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

before appointments are made by the Board, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board, and, in
the light of this evaluation preparing a description of the role and
capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall:

(i) use open advertising or the services of external advisers to
facilitate the search;

(ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
and

(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective
criteria, taking care that appointees have enough time
available to devote to the position;

keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace;

keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and
commercial changes affecting the company and the market in
which it operates;

reviewing annually the time required from non-executive
Directors. Performance evaluations should be used to assess
whether the non-executive Directors are spending enough time in
fulfilling their duties; and

ensuring that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors receive a formal letter of appointment setting out
clearly what is expected of them in terms of time commitment,
committee service and involvement outside board meetings.
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The Nomination Committee shall also make recommendation to the

Board concerning:

@)

formulating plans for succession for both executive and non-
executive Directors;

suitable candidates for the role of independent non-executive
Directors;

membership of the Company’s audit and Remuneration
committees, in consultation with the chairmen of those

committees;

the re-appointment of any non-executive Director at the
conclusion of their specified term of office having given due
regard to their performance and ability to continue to contribute
to the Board in the light of the knowledge, skills and experience
required;

the continuation (or not) in service of any Director who has
reached the age of 70;

any matters relating to the continuation in office of any Director
at any time including the suspension or termination of service of
an executive Director as an employee of the company subject to
the provisions of the law and their service contract; and

the appointment of any Director to executive or other office,
other than to the positions of chairman and chief executive, the
recommendation for which would be considered at a meeting of
the full board.

No meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the period
from the listing of the Company’s shares on 6 October 2009 to 31

December 2009. From 2010, the Nomination Committee will meet as
and when it is considered necessary.
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Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Annual Report and financial statements of the Company to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The statement by the
auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 73 and 74.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year the letter from the independent auditor
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its
audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of the
independent auditor.

The Group's policy regarding the engagement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu for the various services listed below is as follows:

o Audit services — include audit services provided in connection
with the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Company and the financial statements of the individual
subsidiaries. All such services are to be provided by independent
auditor.

o Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, role as reporting accountant for
the IPO of the Company, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.
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o Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services
of the independent auditor where it is best suited. All other
significant taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as
appropriate.

. Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, and non-financial systems
consultations. The independent auditor is also permitted to assist
management and the Group's internal auditor with internal
investigations and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These
services are subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

o General consulting services — the external auditor is not eligible to
provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and other
independent auditor is shown in Note 9 to the accounts. In the year
ended 31 December 2009, the fees and disbursements paid to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for audit services and those for non-audit services
amounted to HK$2.2 million and HK$7.0 million respectively.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal
control and assessment and management of risks. In meeting its
responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk awareness across the
Group's business operations and has put in place policies and procedures,
including parameters of delegated authority, which provide a framework
for the identification and management of risks. It also reviews and
monitors the effectiveness of the systems of internal control to ensure
that the policies and procedures in place are adequate.

Reporting and review activities include review by the executive Directors
and the Board and approval of detailed operational and financial reports,
budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review by
the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group’s internal audit function
and risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material mis-
statement, errors, losses or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group's internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group's three-year corporate planning
cycle. Forecasts for the current year are prepared on a monthly basis,
reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, management identifies, evaluates and reports on
the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business risks.
The executive Directors review monthly management reports on the
financial results and key operating statistics of each business and hold
monthly meetings with the executive management team to review these
reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralised cash management system for its
subsidiaries’” operations. The Chief Financial Officer has established
guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of expenditures.
Operating expenses are subject to overall budget control and are
controlled within each business with approval levels set by reference
to the level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual budget
review and approval process, and more specific control and approval prior
to commitment by the executive Directors are required for unbudgeted
expenditures.

Internal audit is responsible for assessing the Group's internal control
system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system, and reporting
its findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior
management concerned as well as following up on all reports to ensure
that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a regular
dialogue is maintained with the Group’s external auditor so that both
are aware of the significant factors which may affect their respective
scope of work. Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure
of individual business units, the scope of work performed by the internal
audit function includes financial and operations reviews, recurring and
surprise audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.

Group Risk Management

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance is in place to protect Directors
and officers of the Group against their potential legal liabilities.
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(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 163,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2009, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™). This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
Hong Kong, 19 March 2010
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Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Change in fair value of

investment properties
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Impairment loss recognised

in respect of goodwill

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations
Revaluation of leasehold
property upon transfer to
investment property

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Basic earnings per share

—BThE
T
2009
HK$'000

Hiiz

NOTES

6 6,906,925
(4,864,817)

2,042,108
7 76,845

39 22,399

19 (1,000)
(474,446)
(469,537)
8 (149,059)
6,822
21 -

9 1,054,132
12 (26,807)

1,027,325

(625)

(625)

1,026,700

1,010,176
17,149

1,027,325

1,009,342
17,358

1,026,700

15 HK40.0 cents &1l

—ETN\F
TAET
2008
HK$'000

5,781,278
(4,462,068)

1,319,210
265,499

55,040
(346,656)
(345,351)
(123,592)

M
(1,301)

822,848
(39,101)

783,747

171,218

17,810
189,028

972,775

760,924
22,823

783,747

948,130
24,645

972,775

HK97.3 cents &1Ll
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Non-current assets
Fixed assets
Prepaid lease payments
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Interests in associates
Deposits for acquisition of

fixed assets

Deferred tax assets
Long term receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Taxation recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Provisions
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary

Taxation payable
Bank loans — amount due
within one year

Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale

Net current assets (liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

Hiet

NOTES

17
18
19
20
22

23
24

25
26

27
28

16

29

30

31

32

16

—BThE
FH
2009
HK$'000

14,264,055
443,284
34,000
347,612
8,511

645,755
22,421
264,842

16,030,480

602,380
802,833
624,799
20,991
429,348
5,723,061

8,203,412

8,203,412

950,590
1,140,828
3,915

6,556

3,099,222

5,201,111

5,201,111
3,002,301

19,032,781

—ETN\F
TAT
2008
HK$'000

8,124,263
293,401
35,000
137,807
48

73,025
9,616
118,916

8,792,076

379,789
638,156
316,664
36,961
9,171
363,590

1,744,331
157,053

1,901,384

785,190
889,235
3,861

10,916
11,005
2,810,763

4,510,970

22,731
4,533,701
(2,632,317)

6,159,759
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Bt FExT FET
2009 2008
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans — amount due
—R—F &2 after one year 32 6,278,373 1,686,812
AEAF Provisions 30 42,695 40,588
FES RHEAFRIE Long term payable 33 27,011 -
BERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 23 54,048 31,115
6,402,127 1,758,515
12,630,654 4,401,244
I8 A K (4 Capital and reserves
f& A Share capital 34 651,926 78,179
i) Reserves 11,605,699 4,288,418
RATHER NELEE Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 12,257,625 4,366,597
DHIE R = Minority interests 373,029 34,647
R iREE Total equity 12,630,654 4,401,244

FISEEFIBENGAMBEHRRCHN - Z—  The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 163 were approved
TE=ATNBEESESESIEREETIZ - and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 19 March 2010 and

MTIALREERE: are signed on its behalf by:
JE#E L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2| 2B LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT

ZE % DIRECTOR E % DIRECTOR
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE_—ZTZThF+_-_A=+—HILFE
RAREEAELESR
ARGER
B kL) ES DEBRR
BE  ROEE wRG  AHHEE  ERRE  RAERE  REEF @t EE  ER4E
Fign Fin FhL Fitn Fign Fin Thr Fitn Fin Fhr
(Hizt46)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Shares held
for share Property
Share Share award Merger  revaluation  Translation Retained Minority Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 46)
RZZZNE—-A—H At1lanuary 2008 78,179 1,721,981 - (35,193) - 312,159 618,338 2,695 464 27,869 2,723,333
ERER Exchange differences - - - - - 169,396 - 169,39 1822 171218
EFEEERENER  Revaluation of leasehold
nEEME property upon transfer to
investment property - - - - 17,810 - - 17,810 - 17,810
FEEA Profit for the year - - - - - - 760924 760924 22823 783747
FEZENALE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 17,810 169,396 760,924 948,130 24,645 972,775
BATHIRI (W#34)  Issue of new share (Note 34) - 866,000 - - - - - 866,000 - 866,000
REBBBEEELE  Deemed disposal of partial interest
HERHB AR in subsidiaries through group
BoER (ih) reorganisation (note ) - = - - - - - - 67,875 67875
REABBEEEHE  Deemed acquisition of additional
WERHB AR interest in subsidiaries through
BIMER (i) group reorganisation (nofe b) - - - - - - - - (85,742) (85,742)
HRAELNHR Deemed distribution
(iakb) (notes a & b) - - - - - - (97,012) (97,012) - (97,012)
BRPERE Interim dividend paid - (45,985 - - - - - (45,985) - (45,985)
RZZENE At 31 December 2008
+-A=1+-H 78,179 2,541,99% - (35,193) 17,810 481,555 1,282,250 4,366,597 34,647 4,401,244
EREE Exchange differences - - - - - (834) - (834) 209 (625)
EERA Profit for the year - - - - - - 1010176 1010176 17049 1027325
FEREAHAR Total comprehensive income
gt and expenses for the year - - - - - (834) 1010176 1,009,342 17358 1,026,700
BOMBHVESES  Issue of new shares for cash
(Hyit34) (Note 34) 563,800 6,824,400 - - - - - 7,388,200 - 7,388,200
REBBRRERT  Issue of new shares for
HRAIEGR S cash under over-allotment
(Writ>4) option (Note 34) 9,947 377978 - - - - - 387,925 - 387,925
MR EITA Issue costs of new shares - (264,143) - - - - - (264,143) - (264,143)
REMRI KB 2 Purchase of shares under
BERH share award scheme - - (630,296) - - - - (630,296) - (630,296)
B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Hii238) (Note 38) - - - - - - - - 321,04 321,024
jiSmEY K3 At 31 December 2009
+-A=t-H 651,926 9,480,231 (630,29) (35,193) 17,810 480,721 2292426 12,257,625 373029 12,630,654

78 EBAKRERBEMRAT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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AHETHEABIRIED IR TER (SE) AR

HARRBDE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2009 EHE-—ZTZETNF+-HA=+—HIE4

notes:

On 28 December 2007, the Group transferred the entire issued share capital
in Flavour Glory Limited (“Flavour Glory”) and Clear Bright Investments Limited
("Clear Bright”) which were the wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company to
Smooth Concept Investments Limited (“Smooth Concept”), the immediate holding
company of the Company, at an aggregate consideration of HK$287,833,000. On
30 June 2008, Smooth Concept transferred back the entire issued share capital
in Flavour Glory and Clear Bright to the Group at an aggregate consideration of
HK$315,772,000. The difference amounting to HK$27,939,000 that represented
the profit of Flavour Glory and Clear Bright for the period from 28 December 2007
to 30 June 2008 was treated as a deemed distribution to Smooth Concept upon
application of merger accounting.

On 5 March 2008, the Group disposed of the entire issued share capital of
Redland Concrete Limited (“Redland Concrete”) to China Resources Logic Limited
(subsequent known as China Resources Gas Group Limited) (“CR Gas”), a subsidiary
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Holdings”), an intermediate
holding company of the Company, for a cash consideration of HK$217,758,000.
On 31 December 2008, the Group acquired Redland Concrete by acquiring, the
entire issued share capital of Rich Team Resources Limited (“Rich Team”), the then
holding company of Redland Concrete, from CR Gas for a cash consideration of
HK$304,698,000. The difference amounting to HK$86,940,000, after adjusting
for the consolidated profit of Rich Team Group (that comprises Rich Team and
Redland Concrete) shared by the minority shareholders of CR Gas amounting
to HK$17,867,000 for the period from 5 March 2008 to 31 December 2008,
amounting to HK$69,073,000, was treated as a deemed distribution to CR Holdings
upon application of merger accounting.

TTAEEZR  Annual Report 2009 79
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Htat FERT FET
2009 2008
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
REKEEEHNIREME  Cash flows from operating activities
Fr B R & Profit before taxation 1,054,132 822,848
BMTFISIEEL AR Adjustments for:
FTEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 432,638 321,364
BEE A E R Impairment loss recognised
VRN R in respect of fixed assets 5,671 -
H b e W sRIE Impairment loss on
EEE other receivables - 12,329
PR 8 Amortisation of mining rights 4,225 2,654
REYENTEER Loss (gain) on change in fair
#E)EE (W) value of investment properties 1,000 (55,040)
TE T AH & R IE 8 Release of prepaid lease
payments 8,683 6,684
B A Interest income (11,119) (5,643)
FEMAX Interest expenses 149,059 123,592
i NCE Share of results of associates (6,822) 1
B R Impairment loss recognised
BIEEBE in respect of goodwill - 1,301
RIEREERD Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts (20,533) (22,863)
HERTEEERE Loss on disposal of fixed assets 872 3,418
HE—KMB A Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 39 (22,399) -
B 5 EstE (M) Exchange loss (gain) 892 (115,191)
LEESEERN Operating cash inflows before
KEBRSMA movements in working capital 1,596,299 1,095,454
F& ()R (Increase) decrease in inventories (112,094) 7,535
FEUE SERF (#N) > (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (130,391) 71,654
H fib e U sk IE 32 0 Increase in other receivables (44,099) (67,525)
FETE SRR RGN Increase in trade payables 113,249 158,966
Hih e RIE O )80 (Decrease) increase in other payables (11,611) 29,467
R NG Decrease in amounts due from
IR D fellow subsidiaries - 6,675
AN O L) Increase (decrease) in provisions 2,161 (4,426)
KEEBEENR S Cash generated from operations 1,413,514 1,297,800
BENEBFEHR Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (17,976) (21,627)
EPBAEASEE  Chinese Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax paid (8,273) (42,413)
EFE Interest paid (318,007) (180,970)

mETEEIELE RIS IFR  Net cash generated from operating
activities 1,069,258 1,052,790
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k=3 FET FHET
2009 2008
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
REREEENIEEME  Cash flows from investing activities
PUBEEFEEMZ(TH  Purchase and deposit paid for
BERELES acquisition of fixed assets (5,543,454) (2,585,875)
EEMIRITER (BI1)  (ncrease) decrease in pledged
Do bank deposits (413,870) 542
TEAT BT 3RIE Advances to governments (258,574) (118,916)
g NEC] Acquisition of associates (237,064) -
W B AR (FIBRIRE  Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of
KR EEYFE) cash and cash equivalents) 38 (439,530) (106,033)
TETHEFKIEE M Increase in prepaid lease payments (57,597) (90,827)
W PR Acquisition of mining rights (6,132) (13,411)
HE—RMEAR (3]R&  Disposal of a subsidiary (net of
LS EYFE) cash and cash equivalents) 39 7) -
2 U B Interest received 11,119 5,643
HEREEEEMBRIA Proceeds from disposal of
fixed assets 7,593 2,735
EERBEFEUE Settlement of considerations
MEARRRE for the acquisition of
subsidiaries in prior year - (31,555)
HE—KMBARIMNRE Advance receipt of consideration
H T8 IR IR for disposal of a subsidiary 39 - 156,754
KB BEERARR Repayment from an intermediate
B holding company - 160,170
RIEEEEFTA® Net cash used in investing activities
e HE (6,937,516) (2,620,773)
RERMEEZEHIRERE  Cash flows from financing activities
FIGIRITER Bank loans raised 12,006,562 4,633,719
= AR FE S SRIE R Decrease in long term payable (6,381) -
BITRM TS REIA Proceeds from issue of shares
(FOBREEATACAN) net of issue costs 7,511,982 -
EBEPBITER Repayments of bank loans (7,642,731) (2,222,384)
1% 0 SE BT BT 5k Payment of share award scheme (630,296) -
BERTEEERAF Repayment to immediate
holding company - (709,995)
WRED IR T —REE Deemed distribution to
S /N an intermediate holding company (10,916) (76,024)
B AR Dividend paid - (45,985)
BEEBELEMNIREFE  Net cash generated from
financing activities 11,228,220 1,579,331
FEReRRESZEY Net increase in cash and cash
SFEIE N equivalents for the year 5,359,962 11,348
FORERRASEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 363,889 339,013
EXZHHBRE R Effect of foreign exchange rate
RITHEBNTE changes of cash and bank balances (790) 13,528
FRIRENRESEEY  Cash and cash equivalents
IR e MIRTTER at end of the year,

representing cash and bank balances 40 5,723,061 363,889
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GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company Law
(2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003 and its
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on
6 October 20009. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources
National Corporation (“CRNC"), a company established in the
Chinese Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the
Company is Renminbi. The Company has selected HK$ as its
presentation currency because the management considered
it is more beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2008, the Group
had the following group reorganisation involving entities under
common control (“Group Reorganisation”).

EHACRIERABMR AT  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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On 28 December 2007, the Group transferred the entire issued
share capital of Flavour Glory and Clear Bright to Smooth
Concept at an aggregate consideration of HK$287,833,000. On
30 June 2008, Smooth Concept transferred back the entire issued
share capital of Flavour Glory and Clear Bright to the Group at
an aggregate consideration of HK$315,772,000. The Group,
Smooth Concept, Flavour Glory and Clear Bright are under
the common control of CR Holdings both before and after the
transfers of interests in Flavour Glory and Clear Bright, and that
control is not transitory. CR Holdings is an intermediate holding
company of the Company. For the purpose of the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group's
equity interests in Flavour Glory and Clear Bright are considered
to be 100% throughout years ended 31 December 2008 and
2009 after taking into consideration the subsequent transfer-back
of the issued share capital of these two companies by Smooth
Concept. The difference amounting to HK$27,939,000 that
represented the profit of Flavour Glory and Clear Bright for the
period from 28 December 2007 to 30 June 2008 was treated as
a deemed distribution to Smooth Concept upon application of
merger accounting for these reorganisations of companies under
common control.

On 5 March 2008, the Group disposed of the entire issued
share capital of Redland Concrete to CR Gas, a subsidiary of CR
Holdings, for a cash consideration of HK$217,758,000. On 31
December 2008, the Group acquired back Redland Concrete by
acquiring the entire issued share capital of Rich Team, the then
holding company of Redland Concrete, from CR Gas for a cash
consideration of HK$304,698,000.
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The Group, Rich Team, Redland Concrete and CR Gas are under
the common control of CR Holdings both before and after the
transfers of interests in Redland Concrete and the Rich Team
between the Group and CR Gas, and that control is not transitory.
The Group's equity interest in Rich Team was considered to
be 100% throughout years ended 31 December 2008 and
2009 except for during the period from 5 March 2008 to 31
December 2008, after taking into consideration the subsequent
transfer-back of the entire issued share capital of Rich Team to
the Group. Profit of Rich Team Group from 5 March 2008 to
31 December 2008 attributable to the minority interest in CR
Gas of HK$17,867,000 is included in profit attributable to the
minority interest in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2008 as CR Gas was
not wholly owned by CR Holdings. The difference amounting
to HK$86,940,000, after adjusting for the consolidated profit
of Rich Team Group shared by the minority shareholders of CR
Gas amounting to HK$17,867,000 for the period from 5 March
2008 to 31 December 2008, amounting to HK$69,073,000 was
treated as a deemed distribution to CR Holdings upon application
of merging accounting.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 2008
and 2009 have been prepared using the principles of merger
accounting as set out in Hong Kong Accounting Guideline
5 "Merger accounting for common control combinations”
("AG5") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and included the results and cash flows
of the companies comprising the Group pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation as if the Group Reorganisation had occurred and
that the Group had held the equity interests in the companies
comprising the Group from the date when the combining entities
or business first came under the control of the controlling party,
CR Holdings.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new and
revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
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AR 5395 (83T A)
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2RRZEE)-RE
£165
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(f3TA)

N=FT\FRIHA
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SEwAl Gt 0k
HAR A
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BREEI B ARG E
BIE395E FO0RME
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Public Accountants (“HKICPA™).

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)

Presentation of financial statements

Borrowing costs

HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable financial instruments and
(Amendments) obligations arising on liquidation

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an investment in
(Amendments) a subsidiary, jointly controlled

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(FRIC) - INT 9 &

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

entity or associate
Vesting conditions and
cancellations
Improving disclosures about
financial instruments
Operating segments
Embedded derivatives

HK(FRIC) — INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes

HK(FRIC) — INT 15 Agreements for the construction
of real estate

HK(FRIC) — INT 16 Hedges of a net investment in
a foreign operation

HK(FRIC) — INT 18 Transfers of assets from customers

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2008, except for the
amendment to HKFRS 5 that
is effective for annual periods
beginning or after 1 July 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs

TTNFER

issued in 2009 in relation to
the amendment to paragraph
80 of HKAS 39
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("H KFRS") (Continued)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current or prior accounting
periods.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and
disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the financial statements) and changes
in the format and content of the financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating segments
HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has resulted in a

redesignation of the Group's reportable segments (see Note 6).

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
improvements to HKFRSs 2008’
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures?

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial
statements’
HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of right issues*

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible hedged items’

HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional exemptions for

first-time adopters’

#EHKRERAEMR AT  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14
(Amendment)

HK(FRIC) - INT 17

HK(FRIC) - INT 19

Limited exemption from
comparative HKFRS 7 disclosures
for first-time adopters®

Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions’

Business combinations’

Financial instruments’
Prepayments of a minimum

funding requirement®

Distributions of non-cash assets
to owners’

Extinguishing financial liabilities

£195

! R-ZFENFLH— A EERFEH

TR

z R-FFNF+A-—AR-F—FF—AH
—Hat 2 e F/Z R S ENEET (4038
) e

3 R-FE—FF—F AR ELNFEL
IR

4 RoF—FF = f—HAL 2 EERFEE
EIERL

s REFE—FF+LA—ARZEAERFES
RFAER

g R-F——F—J—HA 2 EENFEH
TR

7 R-F—=F— A2 EENFEH
IR

RMEBIBEEREIN (EERT) A
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ZEMEEFEREHRERRZ A2’
HEBEHHETRIE - RS HERE
2757 (RIER] B BB B 2RI K B
RRITEREERE RN TR

with equity instruments®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 20710.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the
accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership interest
in a subsidiary.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("H KFRS") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets and will be
effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.
The Standard requires all recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement to be measured at either amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that (i) are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows and (ii) have contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at fair value. The application of
HKFRS 9 might affect the classification and measurement of the
Group's financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009, HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to the
classification of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective
from 1 January 2010, with earlier application permitted. Before
the amendments to HKAS 17, lessees were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as prepaid lease
payments in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The amendments have removed such a requirement. Instead,
the amendments require the classification of leasehold land to
be based on the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that are
based on the extent to which risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The
application of the amendments to HKAS 17 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments or
Interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

#EHKRERAEMR AT  China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal (except for subsidiaries under common
control which are accounted for using the principles of merger
accounting), as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in
the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date
of the original business combination and the minority’s share
of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority interest in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the
interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority
shareholder has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.
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Business combinations

Business combination under common control

For group reorganisation under common control, merger
accounting is adopted. In applying merger accounting,
financial statement items of the combining entities or
businesses for the reporting period in which the common
control combination occurs, and for any comparative
periods disclosed, are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the combined entity as if the
combination had occurred from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the
control of the controlling party or parties.

Business combination other than under common
control

The acquisition of subsidiaries, other than under the
group reorganisation involving entities under common
control, is accounted for using the purchase method.
The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to
the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the
conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business
combinations” are recognised at fair values at the
acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Business combinations (Continued)

(i) Business combination other than under common
control (Continued)

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority's proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Acquisition of additional interest of subsidiaries that do
not result in a change in control do not fall within the
definition of business combination under HKFRS 3. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the carrying value of
the minority interest is recognised as goodwill.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment loss and is included in
the carrying amount of intangible assets for presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
acquisition is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.
Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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Fixed assets

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of fixed
assets (other than construction in progress) over their estimated
useful lives after taking into account of their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years
Logistic equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

Over the unexpired lease terms

Construction in progress includes fixed assets in the course
of construction for production or administrative purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of fixed asset when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of fixed asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceed and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are measured using the
fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
year in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in
which the item is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for mining rights with finite
useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of mining right is
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceed and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
period when it is derecognised.
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Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a jointly
controlled entity. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is neither control nor joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, interests
in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of
losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after assessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the relevant associate.
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Prepaid lease payments

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
fixed assets. To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted
for as operating leases except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model.

The up-front payments to acquire leasehold interest in land are
accounted for as operating leases and are stated at cost and
released over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount but to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.

Assets classified as held for sale

Assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition.

Assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of the previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue or turnover is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts, value added tax and other sales related
taxes.

Sale of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
year in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes income and expense items that are never
taxable and deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax
assets are generally recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss over the
useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants are
recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match them
with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on
a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the year except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case,
the exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate
component of equity (the translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are treated
as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets commenced to the Group. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified of loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period, subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held to maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated is reclassified
to profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
guoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments,
they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses
at the end of each reporting period (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occur after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not
be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in
fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified
into other financial liabilities.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to a fellow subsidiary and bank loans are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition
of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and recognise a collateralised borrowing for proceeds
received.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provision for other employee benefits are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and is measured at the directors’ best estimate of the
future obligations discounted to its present value where the effect
is material.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows.
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Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash generating unit (“CGU"”) and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. As at 31 December 2009
and 2008, the carrying amount of goodwill are HK$186,789,000
and HK$62,841,000, respectively. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 21.

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred tax
assets would be recognised in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year in which such
a reversal takes place. As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is HK$22,421,000 and
HK$9,616,000, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 EHZE—ZZNF+-_A=+—HIFE
T AAEENETE 5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
ﬂz R (&) UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
EWE SRR ERE Estimated impairment of trade receivables
B HRREBENRERIE  ASBEEE Where there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
FFARKREEREZREN RERER takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows.
CHRAENRESHENSREEN The amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
RIGERF X (YT HERAFHEENE between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
B ) BRER M EET R RB e RE (T8 estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
BEABBHARREEER)WRE 2 HH have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original
ERAER_ZTNGFRZZTNF effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
+ZA=+—8 EKRESEREFNEEE at initial recognition). As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the
3 71 802,833,000/ 7T (ALHI M REEBRES carrying amount of trade receivables are HK$802,833,000
#K47,672,00078 7T ) 52638,156,00058 7T (4% (net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$47,672,000) and
Nk RIZEREK72,169,0008 7T) (£ 4 HK$638,156,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
H15226) HK$72,169,000), respectively (see Note 26).
ERERDHEHR 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of internal
management reports which are prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conform with HKFRS, that are regularly
reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to allocate
resources to the reportable segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related
products

Turnover represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, directors'’
salaries, share of results of associates, interest income and finance
costs and taxation.
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DEHEBEERFIN AT - The information of segment results are as follows:

BE-ZZANF+-HA=+—-HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2009
b9/ BRt EIf ] k]
FER FER FERx BT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=E S TURNOVER
HINEE External sales 5,070,678 1,836,247 - 6,906,925
DEZ EHE Inter-segment sales 347,623 86 (347,709) -
5,418,301 1,836,333 (347,709) 6,906,925
DEbZ RIS TRBR TS ERETE - Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
ES RESULTS
DEEE Segment results 1,012,795 225,123 - 1,237,918
FLEWA Interest income 11,119
HBER Finance costs (149,059)
AABARMAL Unallocated corporate expenses (52,668)
JEIHER & ARIE4E  Share of results of associates 6,822
BRI & Profit before taxation 1,054,132
1A Taxation (26,807)

FREEF| Profit for the year 1,027,325
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZE—ZEZNF+-_A=+—HILHF

6. EEERAWER = 6

BE—ZT/\FT_A=1T—HILFE

i

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008

X3 BEL EIE HME
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

=1 TURNOVER
HINEE External sales 4,068,089 1,713,189 - 5,781,278
D EEE Inter-segment sales 356,622 39 (356,661) -
4,424,711 1,713,228 (356,661) 5,781,278

7 ERZ ISR E TRIRI TS ERA E -

¥E RESULTS

DEPEE Segment results

FMEUWA Interest income

55 Finance costs

ROBEARIRAL Unallocated corporate expenses
& 15 EXid=UNE] Share of result of an associate
BE A& F) Profit before taxation

TIE Taxation

FEZRF| Profit for the year

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

802,155 167,299 - 969,454

5,643
(123,592)
(28,656)

(1

822,848
(39,101)

783,747
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

A=+—HIEFE

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities are as

follows:
W+=A=+—H
—EEAF —EENF
FHET FET
As at 31 December
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEBE E Segment assets
—7KE — Cement 16,285,498 9,007,878
—REt — Concrete 1,397,445 1,108,644
17,682,943 10,116,522
Rt 2 N AR R Interests in associates 8,511 48
R IBE E Deferred tax assets 22,421 9,616
AR IE Taxation recoverable 20,991 36,961
Unallocated corporate
RABATIEE (iFa) assets (note a) 6,499,026 530,313
FaBERTE Consolidated total assets 24,233,892 10,693,460
=K Liabilities
DEbBEE Segment liabilities
—7KE — Cement 1,711,655 1,165,814
—ERt — Concrete 435,159 328,337
2,146,814 1,494,151
MIEAE Tax liabilities 60,604 42,120
Unallocated corporate
RABRBIERE (b)) liabilities (note b) 9,395,820 4,755,945
meRaResE Consolidated total liabilities 11,603,238 6,292,216
i notes:
@ KO ARIEERR e RRITHES BER (a) Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
RITFRREDEE- bank deposits and assets of the headquarter.
(o) APEARIABERITER B EH M (b) Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans and other payables

JEATRRIE » RRMRTTE SRR AR SR B4 75-50PT
SHEE WEZEFRBIN RRDE AT

afE-

of the headquarter. The bank loans are classified as unallocated corporate

liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of

the Group.

—EENFFR
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FEIE
BEETAE®
Bl
EEBENE
REAREEAD

PREEREEH
ANHEFREH

REMEAFER
BHELNER

HEETEERR
(Yezk)

EEEERERSE

Additions to fixed assets

Additions to mining rights

Additions to prepaid lease
payments

Additions to goodwill

Increase in deposits for
acquisition of fixed assets

Depreciation of fixed assets

Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts

Amortisation of mining rights

Release of prepaid lease
payments

Loss on change in fair value of
investment properties

Loss (gain) on disposal of
fixed assets

Impairment loss on fixed assets

Other information

For the year ended 31 December 2009

K
FEx

Cement
HK$'000
5,023,455
6,132

49,307
123,950

550,431
377,184

(1,146)
4,225

8,264

792
5,671

=y g
TER

Concrete
HK$'000

235,787

8,290

22,299

54,994

(19,387)

419

1,000

133

AT
THER
Corporate
level
HK$'000

1,850

460

(53)

mEBE
TER
Consolidated
total
HK$'000

5,261,092
6,132

57,597
123,950

572,730
432,638

(20,533)
4,225

8,683

1,000

872
5,671
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZE_—_ZTZAF+_-_A=+—HILFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008

K SRR NS A
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REETEE Additions to fixed assets 2,522,682 105,494 134 2,628,310
PRuE R AN Additions to mining rights 13,411 - - 13,411
TEREEFRIEL M Additions to prepaid lease
payments 79,465 11,362 - 90,827
BN Additions to goodwill 10,756 - - 10,756
BERETEER® Increase in deposits for
&0 acquisition of fixed assets 46,699 - - 46,699
EEEERE Depreciation of fixed assets 275,494 45,703 167 321,364
REZRBERD Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts (12,165) (10,698) - (22,863)
PREE IS i Amortisation of mining rights 2,654 - - 2,654
BN E TR Release of prepaid lease
payments 6,684 - - 6,684
Hith UGB E Impairment loss on other
B8 receivables 12,329 - - 12,329
S BHRANRE Impairment loss recognised
& in respect of goodwill - 1,301 - 1,301
REMERNFEE (Gain) loss on change in fair
BHELN value of investment
(fez) B properties (56,040) 1,000 - (55,040)
HEBRTAEEE Loss (gain) on disposal of
(Yezs) fixed assets 1,907 1,517 @) 3,418
ZETNFFHR  Annual Report 2009 113
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZE-—ZZENF+_-_A=+—HILFE
Hfth iz A OTHER INCOME
—EEAF —EENF
FHET FHET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
MBI A Interest income 11,119 5,643
b 5 W Exchange gain - 183,619
BT 22ED Government incentives 33,061 52,086
& B Sales of scrap materials 6,440 4,466
Compensation received
KERBREEE from insurance 3,290 1,838
ARFS UL A Service income 3,038 2,165
LU A Rental income 10,247 8,513
HAtb Others 9,650 7,169
76,845 265,499
MBER FINANCE COSTS
—EENF —ETENF
FHET FHET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT &EIERHE Interests on:
TEFENBEBHERD Bank loans wholly
RITER repayable within
five years 318,007 166,882
FERTEEER A RIFIE Amount due to
immediate holding
company - 14,088
REIFERTFRIE Long term payable 156 -
318,163 180,970
B BEERMEABETEEEN SR Less: Amount capitalised to
fixed assets (169,104) (57,378)
149,059 123,592

Capitalisation rate of borrowing costs to expenditure on
qualifying assets is approximately 5.0% (2008: 6.1%).
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Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Directors” emoluments
(Note 10)

Pension costs and
mandatory provident
fund contributions
excluding directors

Other staff costs

Total staff costs

Amortisation of
mining rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses)
Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of fixed assets
Exchange loss
Impairment loss on
other receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of fixed assets
Loss on disposal of fixed
assets
Operating lease payment
in respect of
— rented premises
— motor vehicles
Release of prepaid lease
payment
Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts

—EENEF
TR
2009
HK$°000

8,488

50,282
448,862

507,632

4,225
3,452
432,638
342

5,671

872

23,698

27,891

8,683

(20,533)

—TT)N\F
TAT
2008
HK$'000

7,257

22,337
344,649

374,243

2,654
3,179
321,364

12,329

3,418

18,468

32,359

6,684

(22,863)



EEME Directors’ emoluments

BE—ZEZNF+-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2009
BREHK
RasI
ESHe HERER AEEeHR HETA st
TR TR TR TR TR
Pension
costs and
Salaries  mandatory
Directors’ and provident Discretionary
EEpg Name of director fees  allowances fund bonus Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

& 2 ) Zhou Junging 13 1773 129 1,446 3,361
[ Zhou Longshan 13 1,300 97 1,325 2,735
2RE Lau Chung Kwok Robert 13 991 92 843 1,939
FRIE Li Fuzuo 13 - - - 13
HXR Du Wenmin 13 - - - 13
B Wei Bin 13 - - - 13
g Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 138 - - - 138
28 Zeng Xuemin 138 - - - 138
MEE Lam Chi Yuen 138 - - - 138

492 4,064 318 3,614 8,488
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BE_ZTTNF+-_A=T—"HLFE

10. EEMME () 10. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BEEME (B) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
HEZZ ) \F+A=1T—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2008
RIREHKA
RaaHtE
ESHe HekEM RESHER g @5t
TET T TEr THL T
Pension
costs and
Salaries mandatory
Directors’ and provident  Discretionary
EENY Name of director fees  allowances fund bonus Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SR Qiao Shibo - - - - -
B &1 Zhou Junging - 1,611 64 1,084 2,759
I Zhou Longshan - 1,101 70 790 1,961
HeAE Sun Mingquan - 449 21 630 1,100
BR Jiang Wei - - - - -
R Song Lin - - - - -
e Lau Chung Kwok Robert - 724 51 500 1,275
R Li Fuzuo - - - - -
YR Du Wenmin - - - - -
R \Wei Bin - - - - -
3 Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 54 - - - 54
L2 Zeng Xuemin 54 - - - 54
MEE Lam Chi Yuen 54 - - - 54
ZBE Keung Chi Wang, Ralph - - - - -
162 3,885 206 3,004 7,257
& & % A 11. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

11.

R-ZTNF AEERESEFHHES
BRARBN=Z2(ZFFTN\F: =4)
B ZEHFMEAA_ X100 KE
R TE (ZETN\F :MB)ERIA
THYFTENANT -

The five highest paid employees in the Group in 2009 included
three (2008: three) directors of the Company whose emoluments
are included in the disclosures in Note 10 above. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2008: two) individuals were as follows:

—EZAF —ETNF

FET FHET

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

e KoRBh Salaries and allowances 3,789 2,096
RIRE AN K2 o8 1 Pension cost and

NESHK mandatory provident
fund contributions 199 90
3,988 2,186
ZETNFFFHR  Annual Report 2009 117



e UBRRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009 &=

11. EEFH =)
EOHHN T TR :

= HIEFE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

—EENE —ETNF
FHET FET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
£ 21,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 - 1
1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 7£ 22,000,000/ 7T HK$1,500,001 to
HK$2,000,000 1 -
2,000,001 7T £2,500,000/%5 7T HK$2,000,001 to
HK$2,500,000 1 -
2 2
12. 18 TAXATION
—EENE —ETNF
FHERT TFET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BHATH 18 Current taxation
BENEW Hong Kong Profits Tax 15,186 16,538
B ST Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 20,291 13,115
RBEFERETR Underprovision
in prior years 1,954 1,012
37,431 30,665
IRERIE (B73323) Deferred taxation (Note 23)
B Hong Kong 2,335 (748)
HRE A i Chinese Mainland (12,959) 10,541
(10,624) 9,793
5 R R B ) Attributable to change
in tax rate - (1,357)
(10,624) 8,436
26,807 39,101

N

BB-TE \FRAKIESR &

T
IM

M-ZT )\ ZZETNREFE Sﬁﬂﬁm
RS EH175%FRE16.5% °
BABFIE mm;zﬁﬁimmmﬂﬁﬁmﬂfﬁ

LA16.5%M Tt =T -

TEN\FRAZ "f’/\ H- %;/%_L/fﬁ

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profit tax rate
from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.
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Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax represents the income
tax in the Chinese Mainland which is calculated at the prevailing
tax rate on the taxable income of the group entities in the
Chinese Mainland.

According to the Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations,
certain subsidiaries, which are established in the Chinese
Mainland, are exempted from Chinese Mainland Foreign
Enterprise Income Tax (“FEIT") for the first two years starting from
their first profit-making year after offsetting the accumulated
losses brought forward from previous five years, followed by
a 50% reduction on the FEIT for the next three years (“Tax
Holiday").

Under the Law of the Chinese Mainland on Enterprise Income
Tax (the "EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is 25%
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Certain subsidiaries that previously
enjoyed a preferential tax rate prior to 1 January 2008 will be
gradually transited to the new tax rate over five years from 1
January 2008 and certain subsidiaries that previously enjoyed the
Tax Holiday will continue to enjoy such preferential tax treatment
until the expiry of such prescribed period.

Deferred tax liabilities amounting to HK$55,000,000 as at 31
December 2009 (2008: HK$37,000,000) has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the
temporary differences attributable to the undistributed retained
profits earned by the subsidiaries established in the Chinese
Mainland during the year ended 31 December 2009 and 2008
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The charge for the year can be reconciled to
profit before taxation as follows:

—2ThE
FBx
2009
HK$'000

Profit before taxation 1,054,132

Tax at the Hong Kong

Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 173,932
Tax effect of expenses

that are not deductible

in determining taxable

profit 8,484
Tax effect of incomes

that are not taxable in

determining taxable

profit (7,228)
Tax effect of reduced tax

rate under Tax Holiday (178,617)
Tax effect of tax losses not

recognised 25,838

Tax effect of utilisation of
tax losses not previously

recognised (482)
Tax effect of share of profit
of associates (1,126)

Effect of different tax rates

of subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions 4,052
Decrease in the opening

deferred tax assets

resulting from

a decrease in tax rate -
Decrease in the opening

deferred tax liabilities

resulting from

a decrease in tax rate -
Underprovision in prior

years 1,954

Taxation expense
for the year 26,807

the consolidated

ZEENF
FHET
2008
HK$'000

822,848

135,770

13,913

(40,862)

(78,384)

7,898

(4,052)

5,163

316

(1,673)

1,012

39,101
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e IS HRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TEENF+-_A=+—HILEE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF"). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement scheme are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Any forfeited contributions in respect
of unvested benefits of staff leavers will be used to reduce the
Group's contributions. There was no significant amount of
unutilised forfeited contributions at the end of each reporting
period. The assets under the MPF are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of the trustee. The Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to the
MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

DIVIDEND

On 31 July 2008, the Company paid an interim dividend of
HK$45,985,000 to the then sole shareholder.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—EENF —EENF
THET FET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
R Earnings
RATHEE AELRT Earnings attributable to
—EREREF owners of the Company
for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 1,010,176 760,924
BT NFFFR  Annual Report 2009 121
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15.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #{Z= —ZZ 7.4 4 =+—HILFE
BERERN & 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
W+=A=+—H
—EThE ZEENF
As at 31 December
2009 2008
iy 4= Number of shares
1% {7 69 S T35 22 Weighted average number of
—BRERZEF shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 2,523,517,029 781,787,461
AR R EREA AR B TETE® No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
B I 25| AR EEE B o not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
JIRFEHENEE 16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

16.

R-ZEENFE+-_AZH KEBEFL
—IE R A A R #138,000,0007T (FHER
156,754,000/ 7T ) BB H & 70 E P 2
KDOKAISSER AR AR ([ALKAHEEE] )
M2 ERRRIE - AT KON IR SEFE(E B E R BB
(EHBE=—ZEEN\F+-A=1+—His
TZEARLE) B AFIELRELER
WHRZEEN\F+ZA=+—HrEREH
BARKRPERER -N_TTNFNA
NH - AREERHERAOTIEEN 2
e (22 H17239) °

R-ZFZNF+ZA=1—HIRHFED
EMADKRIBEN T RRRIEE LA EN

On 2 December 2008, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of the entire equity interest in Guangxi China
Resources Hongshuihe Pier Store Limited (the “Hongshuihe
Pier”) at a consideration of RMB138,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$156,754,000). The assets and liabilities attributable to
Hongshuihe Pier, which was expected to be sold within twelve
months from 31 December 2008, have been classified as held for
sale and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2008. On 6 April 2009, the
Group disposed of the entire equity interest in Hongshuihe Pier
(see Note 39).

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Hongshuihe Pier
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

TR
FET
HK$'000
"EWZE (K15E19) Investment properties (Note 19) 156,754
He MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 299
TAIEHENEE Assets classified as held for sale 157,053
FEIHLIR Taxation payable (325)
RERIBEE (A7123) Deferred tax liabilities (Note 23) (22,406)
ABEHENEE Liabilities associated with assets classified
MEE as held for sale (22,731)
NAEBEHENEEFE Net assets classified as held for sale

134,322

122 =HEHEEARERERLDT China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE_ZZThNF+_A=+—HIFE
EEE 17. FIXED ASSETS
TR BER
BEY RE  DRRE 2t ERIE ok
TAER THER TR FER TER TER
landand  Plantand Logistic Construction
buildings  machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BA CoST
RZZEEN\F—A—H At 1 January 2008 789,291 3,855,107 551,069 295,902 999,058 6,490,427
RE Additions 13,534 71,156 87,687 8,761 2,447,172 2,628,310
BB AR (A7:238) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vote 38) 33,156 - 30,971 4,447 18,326 86,900
ERIERTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 346,300 506,655 39,187 - (892,142) -
He& Disposals (1,770) (5,126) (7.413) (923) - (15,232)
BHEEMEN RS Surplus on revaluation of a
(#ta) leasehold property (note a) 17,810 - - - - 17,810
BRERENE (Ha) Transfer to investment properties
(note a) (42,281) - - - - (42,281)
B R AR Exchange adjustments 35,873 238,120 33,050 18,618 64,883 390,544
RIZT\&E At 31 December 2008
+-A=+—-H 1,191,913 4,665,912 734,551 326,805 2,637,297 9,556,478
RE Additions 71,939 312,933 135,489 22,769 4,717,962 5,261,092
WEEIEAT (H338)  Acquision of subsidiaries (Vote 38) 371,104 325,693 9,289 48,951 571905 1,326,942
ERIERTRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 697,552 2,056,780 59,222 49,466 (2,863,020 -
He&E Disposals (2,578) (10,925) (2,427) (2,605) - (18,535)
R AR Exchange adjustments (135) (641) (95) (44) (370) (1,285)
R-ZENE At 31 December 2009
+=-A=1+—H 2,329,795 7,349,752 936,029 445,342 5,003,774 16,124,692
ZEHERRE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZZEEN\F—-A—H At 1 January 2008 136,408 692,353 170,478 69,083 - 1,068,322
FERAX Charge for the year 29,017 228,844 44,310 19,193 - 321,364
HE R Written back on disposals (202) (2,426) (5,470) (542) - (8,640)
BREERAMERHH Eliminated on transfer to
(#ta) investment properties (note a) (6,281) - - - - (6,281)
iEarcEd Exchange adjustments 5,580 40,950 7,616 3,304 - 57,450
RIZT\&E At 31 December 2008
+-A=+—-H 164,522 959,721 216,934 91,038 - 1,432,215
EEHR Charge for the year 41317 312,740 56,156 2425 - 432638
HERED Written back on disposals @77) (6,293) (2,249) (1,251) - (10,070)
REZ AR Impairment loss recognised in
WEBE (7b) profit or loss (note b) 2,611 3,060 - - - 5,671
3Gk Exchange adjustments 17 136 2 8 - 183
RZZENF At 31 December 2009
+-A=+—-H 208,190 1,269,364 270,863 112,220 - 1,860,637
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZENF At 31 December 2009
+-A=+—-H 2,121,605 6,080,388 665,166 333,122 5,003,774 14,264,055
RZZTN\EF At 31 December 2008
+=-A=1+—~H 1,027,391 3,706,191 517,617 235,767 2,637,297 8,124,263
HinFrZeEaM REREEEER Others mainly comprise furniture and equipment and leasehold
o improvements.

“EENFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZ=—-ZFTNF+_-_A=+

17.

@ HE-ZZT /\F+-_A=+—BLEFE "X
EENE - EHEMENBRLE KA
AT BB E=T ABEFES A -8
FRR% HEVERERZREMERME
BYECIRATEEETER EHAKRE
17,810,000/ 7T (FZ AR B ET AW B
&) RBRE{E /36,000,000 TTHITE EWIEE
BREERANE-

() HE-_ZZAF+-_A=t—HILFE &
RAEEHANEENEEREEETTERX
HRERIEEREL METETHBARR]
MEEDHRAE At % SETEE
B WERR R R (B 518 735,671,000/ 7T ©

17. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

notes:

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group changed the
use of a leasehold property and rented it out to an independent third
party for rental income. Upon the change of use, the leasehold property
was transferred to investment properties and the relevant property was
revalued at fair value with a surplus on revaluation of HK$17,810,000,
which has been credited to the property revaluation reserve and that
leasehold property with carrying value of HK$36,000,000 was transferred
to investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the directors of the Company
conducted a review of the Group's production assets and determined
that the assets of certain subsidiaries were impaired due to damage and
obsolescence. Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$5,671,000 have been
recognised in respect of those fixed assets.

—EEhE ZEENF
FET FAT
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
REEMIHEREFHETERE: Carrying values of the land
and buildings of
the Group comprise:
BiEsEt/ES Properties in Hong Kong
held on
—FHFAL — medium-term leases 177,886 182,648
FIT 35 A B R 3 4 26 Properties in the Chinese
Mainland held on
— A — medium-term leases 1,943,662 844,685
—FE AL — short-term leases 57 58
2,121,605 1,027,391

HARZZEZEAEFE+-_A=+—B&EL
FEHYE AL HEZR 4 /55129,445,00078 7T (=
ZTE )\ 4 : 49,355,000/ 7T) ©

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2009
is interest capitalised of approximately HK$129,445,000
(2008:HK$49,355,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE-_ZETNF+_A=+—HILFE
EAHEERIE 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
—EERF —EENF
FHET FET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
TENHERIBEE: Total prepaid lease
payments:
rh B (A 19 R HR Medium-term leasehold
HELH land in the Chinese
Mainland 454,570 300,679
Ji - IR —F AR IEEF R FIE Less: Amount which will be
(FrAE A EWFHRIEA) charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (11,286) (7,278)
443,284 293,401

BNEERENEBNT

Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:

—EZEAF ZETN\F
FERT FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 300,679 187,622
NE Additions 57,597 90,827
IR B A F) (A7i£38) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38) 105,025 16,017
F R Release for the year (8,683) (6,684)
bE 5 SR Exchange adjustments (48) 12,897
FRER Balance at end of the year 454,570 300,679

EFENREFUAR BN 35F £50F
S

The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are

amortised ranged from 35 years to 50 years.
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—EENF —ETN\F

FHET FAT
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
Balance at beginning of

the year 35,000 93,966
Change in fair value (1,000) 55,040
Transferred from fixed assets - 36,000

Transfer to assets classified as
held for sale (Note 16) - (156,754)
Exchange adjustments - 6,748
Balance at end of the year 34,000 35,000

In 2008, the pier structures with the aggregate fair values of
HK$156,754,000 were reclassified to assets classified as held for
sale. The pier structures were valued by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
Limited ("DTZ"), independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group. DTZ are members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors. The valuation as at 31 December 2008
was arrived at by reference to the depreciated replacement cost
approach.

Investment properties with fair values of HK$34,000,000 and
HK$35,000,000 as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 respectively,
comprised solely a leasehold property in Hong Kong, which was
transferred from fixed assets during the year ended 31 December
2008. These investment properties were valued by DTZ by
reference to the market sales comparable approach.

All of the Group's leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties shown above
comprises:

—EEAF —EEN\F

TR TAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000

Properties in Hong Kong
held on long lease 34,000 35,000
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CoST

At 1 January 2008

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38)

Impairment loss recognised

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2008

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 38)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2009

ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2008
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2008

Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2009

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2008

years.

[k
TR

Goodwiill
HK$'000

53,329

10,756
(1,301)
57

62,841

123,950
)

186,789

186,789

62,841

RiEfE
FTHER
Mining
rights
HK$'000

67,649
13,411

4,345

85,405
6,132

83,962
an

175,488

7,254
2,654
531

10,439

4,225

14,665

160,823

74,966

Mt
TERT

Total
HK$'000

120,978
13,411

10,756

(1,301)
4,402

148,246
6,132

207,912
(13)

362,277

7,254
2,654
531

10,439

4,225

14,665

347,612

137,807

The useful lives of mining rights are ranged from 15 years to 50
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The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the CGUs of cement and concrete business
segments. The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to
the CGUs of cement and concrete business segments are
approximately HK$164,898,000 (2008: HK$40,950,000) and
HK$21,891,000 (2008: HK$21,891,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of cement and concrete CGUs have
been determined based on the value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a five-year period with
growth rate of 3% (2008: 3%), and discount rate of 11% (2008:
12%). This growth rate is based on the industry growth forecasts
and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry. The cash flows beyond the five year period
are extrapolated using zero growth rate. The key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of HK$1,301,000 in relation to goodwill
arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries were included in the
CGU of concrete business segment since those subsidiaries were
inactive and were not expected to operate in the foreseeable
future.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumption would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete segments to exceed
the aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete
segments.
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THET FAET
2009 2008
HK$°000 HK$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 53,424 45,000
Less: Impairment loss
recognised (45,000) (45,000)
Share of post-acquisition
profits and other
comprehensive income 87 48
8,511 48

During the year, the Group acquired 29.31% equity interest
in an associate, SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd. (“Hainan
Cement”), for a consideration of RMB269,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$305,218,000) and a tender deposit of RMB60,000,000
(equivalent to HK$68,154,000) was made by the Group as
at 31 December 2008 and included as other receivables. In
September 2009, the Group acquired additional 34.14% equity
interest for the consideration of RMB324,846,000 (equivalent
to HK$368,941,000) in this associate, which then became a
63.45% owned subsidiary of the Group. Accordingly, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in this associate had been
transferred as part of consideration for acquisition of a subsidiary
(see Note 38).
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZ—ZZENF+_-_A=+—HILFE
22. RBFE N TINRER (2 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
REBBENTRFBNT: Details of the Group's associates are as follows:

28T TEBBECRT
BEATRER FE AR AL it B ZRREREE % 7 BR T B 9 L 51 TEEK
—EEAE —TET)N\F
Proportion of
nominal value

all

Nominal value of issued
Place of of issued share capital held
Name of associate incorporation ordinary shares by the Group Principal activity
2009 2008
XEAFEER QA BB 100,000/ 7T 50% 50%  EHEXH
(it) (i)
Man Wah Quarry Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100,000 50% 50% Inactive
(note) (note)
BEEEREL FE AR #20,000,0007T 30% TER  RRLAERHEE
BREERAA
Hainan Haidao PRC RMB20,000,000 30% N/A Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Co., Ltd. concrete
it REEREXERRGRA T EITRA note: The Group holds 50% of the issued capital of Man Wah Quarry Limited.
#I50% o NR R ERR A ANEEE The directors of the Company consider that the Group only has significant
ERBARARITEEATES Bt 7 influence over Man Wah Quarry Limited and hence the interest in Man
NERBERARNERE D ERAEE Wah Quarry Limited dlassified as an associate of the Group.

KRB AR -
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22.

For the year ended 31 December 2009

REE X B RIER () 22,

BB A B S SR E )
AR

R UBEHRRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_TENF+_A=1+—HLLFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

associates is set out below:

—EEhEF —EENF
FBT FHET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BERE Total assets 58,961 104
BERE Total liabilities (30,647) ®)
BEFE Net assets 28,314 96
REE G E AR Group's share of net assets
BEFE of associates 8,511 48
B Turnover 197,945 -
FEREF (FE) Profit (loss) for the year 23,279 (1)
REBEREHEARNFEEE Group's share of results of
associates for the year 6,822 (1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZ—ZZENF+_-_A=+—HILFE
23. EZEBIE 23. DEFERRED TAXATION
T AREB TR BRI & E The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
(AR RRRFEANEE- recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the
year.
% RE
nE  AHEAY MEQF
REHRE EERE BEED REEE @t
TR TR TR TER THER
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of
tax  onbusiness  investment Tax
depreciation combinations property losses Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZEEN\FE—H—H  At1January 2008 (29,273) - (10,184) 8,831 (30,626)
AEFFA (NK) Credit (charge) for the year

(Fizt12) (Note 12) 748 - (11,419 878 (9,793)
MRS (f12#12)  Attributable to change

in tax rate (Note 12) 1,673 - - (316) 1,357

WK B A Al Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Hiit38) (Note 38) - (4,010) - - (4,010)
BHNBAHEHRE  Redassified as held for sale

(Hist16) (Note 16) - - 22,406 - 22,406
B i A% Exchange adjustments - (253) (803) 23 (833)
RZZETNE At 31 December 2008

+ZA=1+—H (26,852) (4,263) - 9,616 (21,499
AERFA (k) Credit (charge) for the year

(Hizt12) (Note 12) (2,335) 164 - 12,795 10,624
YR B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Hi#t38) (Note 38) - (20,763) - - (20,763)
[E 5 2 Exchange adjustments - 1 - 10 1
RZZTNF At 31 December 2009

+-A=1+—H (29,187) (24,861) - 22,421 (31,627)
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ERERAEE
EENHIRAE

R-ZZEAFEF+_A=+—RH K&
SEEATHEEEARRF B RE AR
1A &5 18 7/3493,890,000/8 7t ( ZZZ N\
:279,800,000/8 70) - Bz S 1B
113,593,000/ 7T (=% )\4F : 53,200,000
BLTIERRELEHBEE-BR R
T B AROR A SA TR R B eR N AL TR
[E518380,297,000/8 T (—Z T T N\ F:

226,600,000/ 7T ) I 8 i 52 (F {a S i 75
BEE T AKRERHEBENEERLY
168,800,000/ 7T ( —ZZ)\4F : 71,300,000
BB BELERAFTEEIE - EME
B e fER AR AR o

REA

FRBR
BEE 3, 5 B

B - — EF R B BIR TR (R AR b EUCGRIR)

RER

ST I AN B 08
AR ARG A B I
B A AR TR B T BRI a

B o
N

—2ERE  CTI)\F

FExT FET

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

Deferred tax assets 22,421 9,616
Deferred tax liabilities (54,048) (31,115)
(31,627) (21,499)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$493,890,000 (2008: HK$279,800,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$113,593,000 (2008: HK$53,200,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$380,297,000 (2008:
HK$226,600,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$168,800,000 (2008: HK$71,300,000) which
will expire 5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

—EEAF —ETNF

FET TET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
At the beginning of
the year 118,916 -
Advances during the year 258,574 118,916
Exchange adjustments (17) -
377,473 118,916
Less: Amount due within
one year (included
in other receivables) (112,631) -
At the end of the year 264,842 118,916

The advances were made to the local governments to facilitate
the transfer of land for the Group for construction of production
lines. The advances were unsecured and carried interest at the
prevailing market borrowing rates determined by The People’s
Bank of China.



AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009 & Z —ZZ NG+ =+—HLFE
25. & 25. INVENTORIES
—EENF —EENF
FET FET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
MR B RER Raw materials and
consumables 402,606 280,868
TR Work in progress 67,555 21,857
SIRK on Finished goods 132,219 77,064
602,380 379,789
26. EWE S ERX 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
—EERF —EENF
FAET FET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
JEWE =R E S IE Trade receivables from
third parties 799,999 626,560
ERFERHBRAGINE SHKIE Trade receivables from
fellow subsidiaries 2,834 11,596
802,833 638,156

AEEARATEFPRHAMARZERERE
T FOE60H M FIIE E MR -

AT BN &R EIRIRIEE T B H5IRA
FEWE 5 Bk (FIRR R AR ) MO AR IR

The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period to its
customers ranging from 0 to 60 days from the date of issuance of

invoices.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice

Sifre date at the end of each reporting period.
—EENF —ETNF
FER FET
2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
0&90 H 0 to 90 days 727,022 567,558
91% 180 H 91 to 180 days 44,138 41,625
181 & 365 H 181 to 365 days 31,673 28,973
802,833 638,156
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BHERBENERE S RXO KRR

wWE1ZE 90 H
#HA91 = 180H
#EA181 & 365 H

AEEY Eph iz TR SRS A E AR
e

RERBENED

FUIER

R AR

WEH T ATk [ 308

PE 5 SR

FEEETE PR E SRR ARy AT U [ 1R AR
EeZrMiRbEERMEEERER
IR SRR E B E = EE
o mNEFEMRENBERE B
ERBHNETREER AL ARBE
ERR BARBERRKRERGEENES
REHE—THE-

Ageing of trade receivable which are past due but not

impaired
—BBhE
THET
2009
HK$'000
Past due 1 to 90 days 365,378
Past due 91 to 180 days 46,519
Past due 181 to 365 days 26,730
438,627

—ETN\F
TAT
2008
HK$'000

222,700
42,434
17,113

282,247

The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which

are past due.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

—EENEF
TR
2009
HK$°000

Balance at beginning of
the year 72,169
Reversal of allowance for

doubtful debts (20,533)
Amount written off

as uncollectible (3,947)
Exchange adjustments (17)
Balance at end of the year 47,672

—ETN\F
TAT
2008
HK$'000

92,381

(22,863)

(1,503)
4,154

72,169

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group

considers any changes in the credit quality of trade receivables

from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer
base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company believe that there is no further allowance required in

excess of the current amount of allowance for doubtful debts.



eI KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009

27.

28.

EERRTER

#77,961,0008 TTHIRITIFE R (ZET)N
F:9,142,0008 ) EE A RS B P 88
E A4 82 T 17 5K #421,387,0008 70 ( =
T )\ : 29,000/ 7T ) 2 B ARUSIRIT
&

BERBITHER
R RIFITRH D EREERANRE R

RITHER (RREBVIRFRER =AW
Z BV R BRIRI TR o

BE_TTAFT_A=+—ALF

27.

28.

X

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank deposits of approximately HK$7,961,000 (2008:
HK$9,142,000) have been pledged to secure sales contracts
with customers. The remaining deposits of approximately
HK$421,387,000 (2008: HK$29,000) have been pledged to
secure banking facilities.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
bank balances (including short-term bank deposits with maturity
within three months from initial inception).

ZBBAE —TTN\F

% %
2009 2008
% %
IRITIE RN SV E Range of interest rates of
the bank balances 0.01-3.60 0.01-3.10

SHASRTTHRERRHO AP K B R RE R
AN EHEGHER IR T ©

Included in bank balances are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.

—EThF —FFENF

FHET F#ETT

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 4,718,666 39,100
EJT(I1%ET]) United States Dollars (“US$") 17,659 -
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e R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HEZE-—ZTENGF+-_A=+—HLLFE
FEf+ B 5 BR K 29. TRADE PAYABLES
—EBEEhE —ZTTN\F
FET FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE=AT0E8Z KX Trade payables
to third parties 950,509 785,190
FERRRMBARINE 5RR Trade payables to fellow
subsidiaries 81 -
950,590 785,190
REBEBPHHHEREIS30RE0BE The Group normally receives credit period of 30 days to 90 days
EH- AT RREREHRBBREZERN from its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
RKFET B SRR BRER DA payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of each

reporting period.

—EEAF  —TT)F

FRET TR

2009 2008

HK$"000 HK$'000

0%90H 0 to 90 days 882,766 693,538
91£180H 91 to 180 days 30,291 58,193
181%2365H 181 to 365 days 13,636 10,871
83A 365H Over 365 days 23,897 22,588
950,590 785,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009

30.

31.

& fis

BE_ZTZAFE T _A=1+—HLHF]

X

30. PROVISIONS

—EEAF ZEENF
FExT FHET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of
the year 44,449 48,875
FREEM Charge for the year 6,894 -
FEEN Paid during the year (4,733) (4,426)
FREE Balance at end of the year 46,610 44,449
SLERE M s BT Analysed for reporting
purposes as:
EmEatE Non-current liabilities 42,695 40,588
nBEE Current liabilities 3,915 3,861
46,610 44,449

SEBREBRRNER A RERBANER
PR IRARE - SR EREERR
BTt EBERRESEBER

BN —RERKE QAR
B

N — KRR B R RSB AR
R REMEERER-

31.

The provisions relate to payments to retired or laid-off employees.
Such payments comprise various benefits including old age
benefits, subsidies for retirement and social medical benefits.

AMOUNT DUE TO A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, interest

free and repayable on demand.
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—REAE  CTI)\F

FET FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TS EBREEERNRITENR: Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—FRN Within one year 3,099,222 2,810,763
—FREMFR After one year but
within two years 2,488,809 818,558
MEREB=FN After two years but
within three years 2,329,002 576,706
=FBENFR After three years but
within four years 843,855 236,646
MWEEERFR After four years but
within five years 417,952 54,902
AFMNE More than five years 198,755 -
9,377,595 4,497,575
JEFARBIBER —F A AR FRIE Less: Amount due within
one year included
in current liabilities (3,099,222) (2,810,763)
—F 1R HAR IR Amount due after one year 6,278,373 1,686,812
2R (i) Secured (note) 936,762 -
B Unsecured 8,440,833 4,497,575
9,377,595 4,497,575
RITERDNREERZER -HEZT Bank loans were arranged at fixed rates as well as floating rates.
TNFTZA=T—HIEFE FEEE The effective interest rates (which also equal to contracted interest
TERNERFZX (TREE 0 E) 8 rates) of the Group's bank loans ranged from 1.03% to 6.72%
ENF1.03%E6.72%2 fH (ZTZ)\F: for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: 1.40% to 7.60%).
1.40%%7.60%) °
RITEFHR DT The analysis of the terms of the bank loans were as follows:

—2RAE —TT)\F

FTHxT FHET

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BB Fixed rate borrowings 681,444 113,590
FEMER Variable rate borrowings 8,696,151 4,383,985

9,377,595 4,497,575



i RITEFRWTEEFER:

T RZEY
TR 55 N 2%
BNEENE
R
RITIFR

FEARITERHARS M BRI E R
AN SR SHERFIRIA T

BIT
e
HE(TEED

AN EE3SFTE  JBRKER T TN
AR ARRHE AR - EEKRK B
B Rz A EHE —THRER ZR
BN =T+ F U A R#56,180,0007T
(#8°E 17263,806,00078 7T ) O R (B UL B - &
i AR #39,326,0007T (48 E 7444,664,000
BEAE_T—AF D tEINE
F AR ¥5,618,0007T (4HE 726,381,0007%8
) RZTETNFF+-_A=+—H &
AR & 7R8I IRE £31,532,000
L EAP4,521,000 BimER—FRY
R EF AR B R E A R T - AT
27,011,000 BT R 48R RILA R BRFE S 50R
E75lJo

note: The bank loans were secured by the following assets:

—EENF —ETN\F

FTHET FET

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

Land and buildings 145,281 -
Plant and machinery 190,785 -
Prepaid lease payments 8,008 -
Mining rights 79,146 -
Bank deposits 421,360 -
844,580 -

Included in bank loans were the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate:

—EEhF —EENF

FExT FET

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$ 2,192,000 420,000
us$ 140,032 -
Japanese yen ("JPY") - 11,053
2,332,032 431,053

As set out in Note 38, Hainan Cement became a subsidiary of
the Company in 2009. As at the date when Hainan Cement
became a subsidiary, it owned a mining right which was acquired
in 2007 for a consideration of RMB56,180,000 (equivalent to
HK$63,806,000) and of which RMB39,326,000 (equivalent
to HK$44,664,000) was payable in seven annual payments of
RMB5,618,000 each (equivalent to HK$6,381,000) until 2015.
As at 31 December 2009, the discounted present value of the
outstanding amount payable amounted to HK$31,532,000 of
which HK$4,521,000 was payable within one year and was
included in other payables of the Group and the remaining
balance of HK$27,011,000 was presented for as long term
payable.



Legrig | &

FAET
Number
of shares Amounts
HK$'000
HFHREE0.108 T Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
LmAR -
VETE Authorised:
RZZZNF—H—H At 1 January 2008 and 31 December
RZTENEF 2008
+=-B=+—8 1,000,000,000 100,000
RZZEZTNF Increase on 31 August 2009
NA=+—HB8EmN 9,000,000,000 900,000
RZEZENF At 31 December 2009
+=-B=+—8 10,000,000,000 1,000,000

EEITREE Issued and fully paid:

N_EETNF—H—H At 1 January 2008 781,787,461 78,179
RZZEZNF Issue of share on 30 June 2008 (note a)

NAZ=Z+HET

It (ita) 1 -
RZZEZNF At 31 December 2008

+ZA=+t—H 781,787,462 78,179
RZZEENF Issue of shares on 31 August 2009

NA=+—H#17 (note b)

W&t (atb) 4,000,000,000 400,000
RZEZENF+ARA Issue of shares on 5 October 2009

BT (d2c) (note ¢) 1,638,000,000 163,800
pr— S Issue of shares on 23 October 2009

+AZ+=H3%1T (note d)

&1 (#td) 99,468,000 9,947

RZZEZTNF At 31 December 2009
+=-B=+—8 6,519,255,462 651,926
it notes:

(@) RZTZENFXA=THB AAREBK (a) On 30 June 2008, the Company issued 1 share of HK$0.10 each by way
J& -1 IIE £1866,000,0007% Jt & AL » 3577 of capitalisation of an amount of HK$866,000,000 owed to Smooth
1B IR0 107 TR AR 15 © Concept.

(b) RZZEZAFENAZ+—HB £AQ8% (b) On 31 August 2009, the Company issued 4,000,000,000 shares of
& 1%0.257% 7T ) {B 18 3£ 774,000,000,000% HK$0.10 each for cash to Smooth Concept at the price of HK$0.25 each.

FREE0.10E TR T IEA - LAYER
Beo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009 #HZE-—ZZENF+_-_A=+—HILFE
Tt PN )
34. R () 34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
it (&) notes: (Continued)
() RIZTZNE+ARB, ARBRBE IR (c) On 5 October 2009, the Company issued 1,638,000,000 shares of
ARE ([HXAHARE])IRER3.90% T HK$0.10 each for cash pursuant to the Initial Public Offering (“IPO") at the
OB 1% %£771,638,000,000% & AX I {E0.10 price of HK$3.90 each.

FETTRIR L) - AKERIR &

(d) R-BZEAFE+A-+=B ARFIRE (d) On 23 October 2009, the Company issued 99,468,000 shares of HK$0.10
BARARBEETHBELRE Rk each for cash under the over-allotment option pursuant to the IPO at the
3.907% 7T 4 {8 45 % 7799,468,0008% 5 A3 El price of HK$3.90 each.

E0.10/E LA AR 7 - AUERIR & o

ZERMIERE - RN RN EES These shares ranked pari passu with the then existing issued
HEEERFREGEHTRNZRERZFHL shares in respect of ranking for dividends, capital and voting rights

attached thereto.

35. EXERER 35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
REEETREEN  UBRAKENER The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
AT RHELS - WiE B E LB iR will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
BRI A R A A B3 o AR E 2 - 7R return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and

SEMNBEREIFT equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
in both years.

AEFEMNERRERIEER (2132 The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
WENIRITEN) RAATHE AEGHE includes the bank loans disclosed in Note 32 and equity
@ (R eEE B ITRARERE) - attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital and reserves.

RRRIEREGLFREZ —RERERE- The management of the Company review the capital structure
BRI FZN—HD EREeEEER on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
AR R BB SR R E A IE AR R - R EE considers the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
HRBEEEENER BRI NRE & class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
TR R BB Bl iR LA KR B4 TR R A sk B ) the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment
REESF R FEHEBEE R of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the

issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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TRMEE
ERNMEWIE (BRERASMREEFEY)

TRAE
BIHARAN

TREREENERREER

AEENTESHEENMEKBERKE
SRR B FEWRRIR - = HA R RO -
BEMRRITER R MR1THER BN
B IR S B OR - A R R Y8
RAFBERIBITER -ZF R TRANF
BN TR EE - % E R T AR
38 O e SR K A% R B RO BRI T
XoBREEEEMERZFRR R
BEAZ A A RO BREUE B 5 16 ©

REEOFERR T 2R E RAREHE
e BEMF B RM R EAREE 5 5
EER A HEEN X RRMIREREN R
LB o 2 B 7N 5 [ 36 S K1) SR SRR © 28
i BT S E TN R E R WK E
52 B B KR R R o

Categories of financial instruments

—EENF —EENF

FHET FAT
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
(including cash and
cash equivalents) 7,353,459 1,220,326
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 11,137,859 5,802,164

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade and
other receivables, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, amount due
to a fellow subsidiary and bank loans. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its long
term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at fixed and variable
interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.



EREABEENEEREE (8)

FEmbE ()
B RR DT

AEENERBNSREDIT AR SRS
HIRARBERRITERNN R R METE

A2 _FFF T 50 £ B i o fth s 2
HRHTE RASEHE-—STNF+=
A=+ —RLEFERFERL, L0
40,631,000 7T (ZZTTN\F 7L, 40
19,837,000/ 7C) °

B

RNEEEERAG AT REE B AN E D
BERRITEBRRRITEFH R EER
»J#\EWEB&Q)EM$$.IE
ERHNES [ B B R O SNEE SR R
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TSR I B Z B EE R R INE R ©

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans
outstanding at the end of each of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2009 would be decreased/increased
by approximately HK$40,631,000 (2008: decreased/increased by
HK$19,837,000).

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
are related (see Notes 28 and 32 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.



EREABEENEEREE (8)

BExmmE (E)

TRAVNAEEHARE BT Xtk
B ETFHESURES % SURE - BURE DT
EBREMINEHEMNERIAR Gk IR
RERINEERIEHS%AREEMIRE -
THEBRBERTAREL BT XT
K BB FHES %P8 2 e BB 1& 2 A HE
PR M ARE L ET KTk BEE
1B85% RIS YRR EREBN L EbEnE
REEMERTZE-

AR B TIHE

AR HETIHE

AR X BETE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$, US$ and JPY. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
or negative number below indicates an increase or a decrease in
post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens 5% against HK$, US$
and JPY. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$, US$, JPY,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit and other equity.

—EENF —EENF

FHET TFET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000

if RMB strengthens
against HK$ (120,217) 14,944

if RMB strengthens
against US$ 5,823 -

if RMB strengthens
against JPY - 953
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
formulated a defined fixed credit policy and delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable regularly
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows (see Note 40 for
details of cash and cash equivalents of the Group at the end of
each reporting period). The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

In order to mitigate the liquidity risk, the management regularly
monitors the operating cash flow of the Group to meet its
liquidity requirements in short and long term.
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interest rate
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RZZENF As at 31 December
TZA=t—H 2009
[ENESHER  Trade payables -
HAMEMFHE  Other payables -
BITER Bank loans
— [l A% ~ Fixed rate 19
LIRS ~ Variable rate 39
RZZENF As at 31 December
+-FA=+—H 2008
[ENEB S8R Trade payables -
HA AR Other payables -
BIER Bank loans
—EEF® — Fixed rate 5.8
—FBFX — Variable rate 35
EOIEE Amount due to a
ARFE fellow subsidiary -

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up to
reflect the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity and interest risk tables
—FN0EE  WELLE BRRER

—fR  TEERF THEBLF BRLF REREAR REE
TET TET TET TET TET TET

More than More than Total

1yearbut 2 years but contractual
Within less than less than More than undiscounted Carrying
1year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

950,590 - - - 950,590 950,590
809,674 - - - 809,674 809,674
681,444 - - - 681,444 681,444
2,755,665 2,780,128 4,033,053 306,094 9,874,940 8,696,151
5,197,373 2,780,128 4,033,053 306,094 12,316,648 11,137,859
785,190 - - - 785,190 785,190
508,483 - - - 508,483 508,483
120,178 - - - 120,178 113,590
2,850,851 912,961 984,343 - 4,748,155 4,383,985
10916 - - - 10,916 10,916

4,275,618 912,961 984,343 - 6,172,922 5,802,164
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38.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices or rates from observable current market transactions as
inputs.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their
fair values.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2009

In July 2009, the Group acquired 29.31% equity interest
of Hainan Cement for a consideration of RMB269,000,000
(equivalent to HK$305,218,000). In September 2009, the Group
acquired an additional 34.14% equity interest in Hainan Cement
for the cash consideration of RMB324,846,000 (equivalent to
HK$368,941,000) and assignment of loan of RMB234,652,000
(equivalent to HK$266,504,000) for cash consideration equal
to principal amount of the loan. The principal activity of Hainan
Cement is the manufacture and sale of cement. Upon the
completion of the acquisition of the additional 34.14% equity
interest in Hainan Cement, Hainan Cement has become a
63.45% owned subsidiary of the Company. This transaction has
been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and the

goodwiill arising on the acquisition are as follows:

Net assets acquired:
Fixed assets
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
Interest in an associate
Deposits for acquisition of

fixed assets

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances
Trade payables
Other payables

Loan from an ex-shareholder

Bank loans
Long term payable
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets acquired

Minority interests

Amount due by Hainan Cement

assigned to the Group
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Total consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration
Transfer from interests
in associates

Net cash outflow arising
on acquisition:
Cash consideration
Cash and bank balances
acquired

WEES

RUkE B 88

BEE ATEES
TR T8

I

Acquirees’

carrying

amount at
acquisition

Fair value
date adjustments
HK$'000 HK$"000

1,326,754 188
25,613 79,412
80,512 3,450
8,424 -

2,313 -
110,582 -
13,860 -
54,582 -
6,367 -
195,915 -
(52,283) -
(140,108) -
(266,504) -
(516,762) -
(33,235) -
- (20,763)

816,030 62,287

WUHB
Rk BB
REER
AFEE
FHET
Acquirees’
carrying
amount and
fair value at
acquisition
date
HK$°000

1,326,942
105,025
83,962
8,424

2,313
110,582
13,860
54,582
6,367
195,915
(52,283)
(140,108)
(266,504)
(516,762)
(33,235)
(20,763)

878,317
(321,024)

266,504
123,950

947,747

635,445

312,302
947,747

(635,445)

195,915
(439,530)
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R-ZZEZNFNUA B AEERAEL
F=HUWIER Tino Investments Limited Y
100% [ 1 - 4K B /3 A K #96,300,000
7L (48 & # 106,989,000/ 7T ) ° Tino
Investments Limited A% &M A ] - B
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of Hainan Cement represents value
obtainable from the opportunities for the Group to obtain access
to the region of the Chinese Mainland that are provided by the
above newly acquired subsidiary.

Hainan Cement has contributed HK$39,379,000 to the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the period from
the date of its being acquired as subsidiary to 31 December 2009.

If the acquisition of Hainan Cement had been completed on
1 January, the Group's turnover for the year would have been
HK$7,440,600,000 and profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year would have been HK$1,034,200,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of turnover and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2009, nor is it intended
to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 December 2008

On 2 April 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Tino Investments Limited from an independent third party at
an aggregate consideration of RMB96,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$106,989,000). Tino Investments Limited is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement and related business in the
Chinese Mainland. The transaction has been accounted for using
the acquisition method of accounting.
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Continued)

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction and the

EENEERT: goodwill arising on the acquisition are as follows:
WU T
RULEE BTAY
BREE AQATFEEAE NEEE
FHET FHET FHET
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before Fair value
acquisition adjustments Fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BUIEE EFE: Net assets acquired:
EEE Fixed assets 82,534 4,366 86,900
FENHEERIE Prepaid lease payments 4,353 11,664 16,017
FE Inventories 1,846 - 1,846
Re RIRTTER Cash and bank balances 956 - 956
BB SRR Trade payables (2,998) - (2,998)
H A e 50R Other payables (2,478) - (2,478)
FIEFRIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities - (4,010) (4,010)
84,213 12,020 96,233
WREEARNEE Goodwill on acquisition 10,756
LR S MR ELRE  Total consideration satisfied by
cash 106,989
ReRBESEEYR  Net outflow of cash and
TR cash equivalents:
EfIREERE Cash paid (106,989)
EERER Cash and bank balances
WITEEH acquired 956
(106,033)

U Tino Investments Limited 2 ELFTE A 7
e EEERAASEER Lidnh
IR HO PR A B AT 69 R Bl I HEHb [ BT
B

The goodwill on acquisition of Tino Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries represents value obtainable from the opportunities for
the Group to obtain access to the region of the Chinese Mainland
that are provided by the above newly acquired subsidiaries.
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Tino Investments Limited &2 £ fff 8 2 B UL
BEHEE—TT)/\F+-_A=+—A0H
MY AR EE RS X5 BaAAE
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Continued)

Tino Investments Limited and its subsidiaries have not contributed
to the Group’s turnover but contributed approximately HK$1
million to the Group's profit before taxation during the period
from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2008.

If the acquisition of Tino Investments Limited had been completed
on 1 January 2008, there would be insignificant effect on the
Group's turnover and profit for the year ended 31 December
2008.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 6 April 2009, the Group disposed of the entire equity interest
in Hongshuihe Pier at a consideration of RMB138,000,000
(equivalent to HK$156,754,000) and the gain on disposal of
Hongshuihe Pier of HK$22,399,000 was recognised during the
year.

The net assets of Hongshuihe Pier disposed of during the year
were as follows:

FAET
HK$'000
EHEEEFE: Net assets disposed of:

KEME Investment properties 156,754

REe RIBITHS Cash and bank balances 7

EIERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (22,406)

134,355
& W Gain on disposal 22,399
R{ELEE Total consideration 156,754
SHRAR: Satisfied by:

FFAEMENRIENDE YR Cash consideration received and included
REMMEAERZZZENF in other payables as advanced receipts
TZA=1+—RIAEF in respect of assets classified as held for
EHEMEERBMNTEKRFE sale as at 31 December 2008 156,754

&S E AR SR FE: Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
EHERS RIRITHER Cash and bank balances disposed of 7
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e R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BEZZTNF+ZA=THLLFE

HE—XMEB LA ) 39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
BE-_ZZhF+-_A=+—HLFE" Hongshuihe Pier contributed insignificant losses to the Group's
KIS EE AN R A EGRFIF R profit attributable to owners of the Company and contributed
LENEE TRAEENKEHENE insignificant cash flows to the Group’s operating cash flows for
BRIV ERSRE- the year ended 31 December 2009.
BERRTEEY 40. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re RN EEY ] SR A MR EA Cash and cash equivalents can be reconciled to the related items
HUMERATE B ETTIA TR in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
—EEhE ZZTTNF
FER FAT
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
B MIRTTA RS Cash and bank balances 5,723,061 363,590
WET AV ARBIEHENEENR &R Cash and cash equivalents
REFEY included in assets
classified as held for sale - 299
5,723,061 363,889
BAFEERZ 41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

RZZZENFRA=TH ARAEBK
JE1F I £1|#9866,000,000/8 T E AN b - BT
— AR B R EE00E TR (FF
BRI EE34() ) ©

R-ZZNF+-—A=+—8 WEET
& EE R JFE 1 7/ T8610,676,00078 JT 14 & 52
 BEFTARAMENFE (ZTT\F:
330,669,000 7T) ©

On 30 June 2008, the Company issued 1 share of the Company
of HK$0.10 each by way of capitalisation of an amount of
HK$866,000,000 owed to Smooth Concept as set out in Note
34(a).

As at 31 December 2009, payables of HK$610,676,000 for
the acquisition of fixed assets had not been paid and had been
included in other payables (2008: HK$330,669,000).
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OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted for

REEEHEER SIS the following future minimum lease payments:
—BEhE —ZTENF
FER FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
—F LR Within one year 9,215 9,215

F_FEFERNF (BEEEMSF) In the second to

fifth year inclusive 28,413 36,859
HBiRAF After five years - 768
37,628 46,842

REMFCRETREABETSRLETI

METT REWERIRAE-

AEBEEREBEA

RERE R  NEBRIBE T ATHEHNL
BB REITAIERR THIHIRZH -

The investment property has been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy of less than
5 years.

The Group as lessee
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall

due as follows:

—BRBAE —TT)\F

FET FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FK Within one year 20,364 15,369
F_EERF (BREEREMTF) In the second to
fifth year inclusive 39,609 14,037
HBiRhF Over five years 44,941 12,672
104,914 42,078
AT AE: Represented by:
T ih R EEEY) Land and buildings 98,184 35,259
B Motor vehicles 6,730 6,819
104,914 42,078

REBRONENFIRERTSE-

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of five years.
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

g
\
7
—
SO

—BBRE —TINE

FER FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
PR RME R AERRITRE Guarantees given to banks
i M ER1TVE H H AR in respect of banking
facilities granted
to fellow subsidiaries - 7,937
BEREIE 44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
P E NI ETE A E MR IR S AR MR Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed
BITHVE A IELDT - assets outstanding at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
—EEhE —ETNF
FEx FAT
2009 2008
HK$°000 HK$'000
BRT4E kB E Contracted but not
provided for 2,366,132 2,784,078
EREERETL Authorised but not
contracted for 4,841,814 3,431,983
7,207,946 6,216,061
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Apart from details of the balances with related parties
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

ZBBAE —TT)N\F

FERT FAET
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
MERMBARHEEEM Sale of goods to fellow
subsidiaries 31,317 33,830
ARZNBRAFTIREER Purchase of goods from
fellow subsidiaries 5,517 3,370
MERMBARZNEE Rent paid to fellow
subsidiaries 2,019 2,630
BIEEIGIEVNGIEY: N6 Testing services provided to
fellow subsidiaries 1,266 2,083
MEEERARIANFE Interest expense paid to
immediate holding
company - 14,088
EIEES PN E k=S = Management fee received
from a fellow subsidiary - 1,080

TBEBEARERERATN
5 ST HZOFHRITE
-

ARREZAR BEALR ST
B REEEINAEE KRR
HREGBIEPET

(b) The key management personnel includes solely the
directors of the Company and the compensation paid to
them is disclosed in Note 10.

(© In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course of
the Group's business.
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Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRNC, which is controlled by the government of the Chinese
Mainland. Apart from the transactions with the parent company
and its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled
by the Chinese Mainland government in the ordinary course of
business. The directors consider those entities other than the
CRNC group are independent third parties as far as the Group’s
business transactions with them are concerned. In establishing its
pricing strategies and approval process for transactions with other
state-controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate whether
the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or not. The Group is
of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

On 2 September 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), a Share Award
Scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules
of the Scheme, the Company has set up a trust through a
trustee, BOCI — Prudential Trustee Limited, for the purpose of
administering the Scheme and holding the shares.

As at 31 December 2009, a total of 160,000,000 issued shares
of the Company were purchased from market for approximately
HK$630,296,000 which were held under the share award
scheme in the equity and no share has been granted to any
employee or any eligible participant up to the end of the
reporting period.
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2009 and 2008 are as follows:

BRTRAZRE/
WEARER TR L3t 2 AMER AEEREREEERNLA TEER
“EENE ZZTN\E
¢4 i E# fi%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
RRERERLIERAF FEIA 200,000,0007 75 - 100% - 100% RERITAEEEE
China Resources Dongguan Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited concrete
ERIOE (BB BRAR FER 15,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% KREELEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited cement
EHIOR (H6) BRAF Bl 66,621,400% T - 100% - 100%  KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Chinese Mainland US$66,621,400 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
#EHKE(BINERAA FEIA 255,560,000/ 70 - 100% - 100%  KOREELHE
China Resources Cement (Fuchuan) Chinese Mainland HK$255,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EEKE (BN) BRAR FEIR 4,410,000% 7T - 100% - 100% KEEERHE
China Resources Cement (Fuzhou) Chinese Mainland US$4,410,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EBIOR (B8) BRAA RE R 55,104,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Guigang) Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EH0E (B BRAR FEIRH ANE#80,664,8687 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Luchuan) Chinese Mainland RMBB0,664,368 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EHKE (HE)BRAF FEIR 55,200,000% 7 - 100% - 100% KEEEERHE
China Resources Cement (Nanning) Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EHI0E () BRAF FERH AR H1,080,780,0007 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Pingnan) Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EHKR(LR)BRAT FERH AR 143,108,784 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Chinese Mainland RMB143,108,784 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
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FENB AT (2 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEIRMRRE/
WEARERE B L 3t 2 HMER AEREREREERRNLA TEER
“BENF —ETN\E
B M E# k3
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EHKR (B5)BRAF BRI 146,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  KREELHEE
China Resources Cement (Tianyang) Chinese Mainland HK$146,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EHKR(RE)ERDA HEIRH 50,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% KEEELHEE
China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Chinese Mainland HK$50,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
Z2HKE (BF)BRAF HE R 250,000,007 - 100% - - KREEEEE
China Resources Cement (Yangchun) — Chinese Mainland HK$250,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
EHIOE (KE) BRAT B 35,000,000% T - 100% - - KREEEHEE
China Resources Cement (Yongding) ~ Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement
ERRER () BRAF 0 10,000%7T 100% - 100% - BESFMELARE
China Resources Cement Holdings HK HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
EERREBRDA HEIR 30,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% FHEEZFHEBLARARE
China Resources Cement Investments ~ Chinese Mainland US$30,000,000 Holding investments in
Limited subsidiaries
EHKRBERAT RREAHS 2ET 100% - 100% - BESFMELRARE
China Resources Cement Limited British Virgin Islands Us§2 Holding investments in
subsidiaries
EHREL(AB)ERLA HEIRH 6,000,000%7C - 100% - - RRIEEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Baise) Chinese Mainland HK$6,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EEREL (18)ERAA FEIR 40,000,007 - 100% - 100% ERTEESEEE
China Resources Concrete (Beihai) Chinese Mainland HK$40,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
FREHEHRRELERAA B 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RATEESREE
China Resources Concrete (Dongguan  Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Fengcheng) Limited concrete
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBRRE/
WEAREE Bl AR HMER FEESERAREERNLA TEXY
ZERNE —TTN\F
BE it E% ik
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EHERL () ERAR hEA 12,500,000/% ¢ - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$12,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited concrete
HRERERTBERRA HEIR AR 3,000,000 - 100% - - RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Fengkai) Chinese Mainland RMB3,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EWEELT (L) ABAR FEIA i 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEREE
China Resources Concrete (Foshan) Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EHERL (BR)BRAR hElA 26,000,00077C - 100% - 100% ORETEEEHE
China Resources Concrete (Fujian) Chinese Mainland HK$26,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EHRERL (BB BRAR hEA 4,000,000/ 7T - 100% - - RRTAERHE
China Resources Concrete (Fuging) Chinese Mainland HK$4,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
BNREERERRELERAA FEIA i 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RET4AEREE
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Development Zone) Limited concrete
ERERL (BN BRAR hEIA 21,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% ORETHEERE
China Resources Concrete (Fuzhou) Chinese Mainland HK$21,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EERRL(BE)ERAA HElRH 10,000,000/ 7T - 100% - - RRTAEGEE
China Resources Concrete (Gaoyao) Chinese Mainland HK$10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EHERL (BR)BRAF hEIRH 34,000,0007 7T - 100% - 100% RETHEEHE
China Resources Concrete (Guangxi) Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
ERERL (BB BRAR hEA 14,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
China Resources Concrete (Guigang) Chinese Mainland HK$14,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
IRERRRLETERAA A 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RELEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete (Jiangmen ~ Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Tangxia) Limited concrete
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BEIRMRRE/
WEARERE AR AL 3 B HMER AEREREREERRNLA TEER
“BENF —ETN\E
B M E# f%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ZHERLOIM)BERAR REN 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETAEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Jiangmen) ~ Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EHRAL(BR)ERLA HEIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - - RRETEESHEE
China Resources Concrete (Jiedong) Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EEREL (BI)ERAA HEIR 13,000,000 7 - 100% - - RRIEESRHE
China Resources Concrete (Jinjiang) Chinese Mainland HK$13,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EHRRL (RB)EBRLA B 3,999,800/ - 100% - - RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Laibin) Chinese Mainland HK$3,999,300 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
EERRELT (MNERAR HREN, 20,000,000% 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Liuzhou) Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
HEEESARRLARAA RE A, 34,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% ORBTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Nanning Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Qingxiu) Limited concrete
BEERAMRERLIERLA HEI 20,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RATEESREE
China Resources Concrete (Nanning Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Xixiangtang) Limited concrete
EHRRL (BE)ERLA FERH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEEEHEE
China Resources Concrete (Nanning) ~ Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
ERERL (M) BRAH RE A, 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% ORBTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Qinzhou) Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
FEFDERLERAR RE R AR #25,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RETAEEEE
China Resources Concrete (Shenzhen)  Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited concrete
EERALBN)ERLA HEIRH 6,000,000%7C - 100% - - RETEESHE
China Resources Concrete (Zhangzhou) ~ Chinese Mainland HK$6,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTRBRREK/
WEAREM Bl AR HMER FEERERARRRNLA TEXY
“BERE —ZEIN\F
BE it E% ik
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EHERL (BT BRAR hEA 20,000,000/ - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
China Resources Concrete (Zhanjiang) ~ Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
ERERL (ZR)BRAA hEIA 10,000,000% ¢ - 100% - 100% ORRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete (Zhaoging) ~ Chinese Mainland HK$10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited concrete
ERREKEBERERAR 0 150,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% HE-FHELARE
China Resources Dongguan Cement ~ HK HK$150,000,000 RKRES
Manufactory Holdings Limited Holding investments in a
subsidiary and trading
of cement
REZHKEBRBRAT hEIA 199,000,007 1T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Manufactory Company Limited cement
HEBRAA B BT - 100% - 100%  EBEWE
First Route Limited HK HK$2 Property holding
BILEBELERLBRAR RE R 2,420,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRLEEEHEE
Foshan China Resources Shunan Chinese Mainland US$2,420,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited concrete
SREBRAF B 2ET - 100% - 100%  REENE
General Perfect Limited HK HK$2 Property holding
EREERDKTKEERAR RE R AR #5200,000,0007T - 918% - 918%  KELEEHEE
Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe  Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Co,, Ltd. cement
BRAKAKERAERAR HEIR AR 305,256,7007T - 72.8% - 728% BE-ZFBELFRRE
Guangxi Hongshuihe Cement Joint Chinese Mainland RMB305,256,700 Holding investment in an
Stock Company Limited associate
AREBERRELARAA hEA AR %22,000,0007T - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited concrete
ERBERARAA Bl 10,000/7C - 100% - 100%  BHEWE
Profit Success Development Limited HK HK$10,000 Property holding
mEEHBERERAR B 200,000757C - 100% - 100% ORELAHEZARS
Quality Control Consultants Limited HK HK$200,000 Concrete testing and
consultancy services
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FTEMRE 2R (s 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BRTRARREK/
WEAREE Bl AR HMER FEESEREREERNLA TEXY
ZERNF —TTN\F
BE itk E# f%
Issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital interest held by the Group Principal activities
2009 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
hERRAERAF Bk 28T - 100% - 100% HERES
Redland Ash Limited HK HK$2 Trading of fly ash
PEKERFIBRAR 3 2B - 100% - 100% KEES
Redland Cement Connections Limited ~ HK HK$2 Trading of cements
AR L AR Bk 1087 - 100% - 100% RELEEEHE
Redland Concrete Limited HK HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
RAMHEEERAR ik 2ETT - 100% - 100% BRENHES
Redland Construction Materials Limited ~ HK HK$2 Trading of construction
materials
hEDRER LA £k 28T - 100% - 100%  PEES
Redland Mortars Limited HK HK$2 Trading of mortars
hABERERAR Bk 2ETT - 100% - 100%  BERES
Redland Shotcrete Limited HK HK$2 Trading of shotcrete
SRR LR e AR 210,000,007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
Shantou Cement Limited Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
RENEEERAT Bk 28T - 100% - 100%  EEWE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited HK HK$2 Property holding
EWKE CELERAR (MBEL PEMAH 22,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEREE
EMTKTRKRERAR) Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
China Resources Cement (Zhanjiang) cement
Limited (formerly Zhanjiang China
Resources Hongshuihe Cement
Company Limited)
EREEKEEREELT hEIA AR 520,750,007 - 6345% - - KEEEEHE
SDIC Hainan Cement Co. Ltd. Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
ERINETAREENNB AT AREE The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
ERE ZENBARERNEBMNES- opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
BEERBEEEERE - ARRAESFR the results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
B Y EMHBEARNFEEBNIT other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
e Company, results in particulars of excessive length.
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RESULTS
Turnover

Profit for the year

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Prepaid lease payments

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Interest in associates

Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets

Deferred tax assets

Long term receivables

Current assets

Assets classified as held for
sale

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Liabilities associated with
assets classified as held
for sale

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

—TTRF
FiET
2005
HK$'000

1,486,315

13,271

2,850,900
107,591
84,568
85,550

60

342,851
15,689

1,270,496

4,757,705

2,100,160

1,378,421

3,478,581

H A
o >l
S

2006
HK$'000

2,111,695

80,050

4,077,315
147,154
87,683
101,369
54

89,160
24,132

1,482,296

6,009,163

2,686,865

1,170,824

3,857,689

—ETTLF
FAT
2007
HK$'000

3,743,155

360,927

5,422,105
182,648
93,966
113,724
49

26,326
8,831

1,774,141

7,621,790

3,995,437

903,020

4,898,457

—ET)N\F
TAT
2008
HK$'000

5,781,278

783,747

8,124,263
293,401
35,000
137,807
48

73,025
9,616
118,916
1,744,331
157,053

10,693,460

4,510,970

22,731
1,758,515

6,292,216

= P
TR
2009
HK$°000

6,906,925

1,027,325

14,264,055
443,284
34,000
347,612
8,511

645,755
22,421
264,842
8,203,412

24,233,892

5,201,111

6,402,127

11,603,238
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
BEBFEEE265E R E4412

44/F., China Resources Building,

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

44 Website : www.crcement.com
AUl Website for Corporate Communications : www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement
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